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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period"),
the business environment was complicated by the Sino-United States
trade war, the United States’ sanctions against a leading Chinese
telecommunications equipment company and the outbreak of novel
coronavirus pneumonia epidemic.

The trade war dampened economic growth of the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC” or "China”), compelling the country’s government
departments and businesses to retrench and be circumspect about
budgets. Meanwhile, the epidemic exacerbated the situation by disrupting
the economic activities, to such a great degree that it led to the first decline
in the country’s gross domestic product since quarterly records began in
1992.

Specifically, the United States’ sanctions against the major Chinese
telecommunications equipment firm, whose products are used widely in
China’s telecommunications sector, also caused delays in information
technology projects. The providers of information technology solutions
and services had to work with their clients to solve the problems posed by
the restrictions on the installation of United States operating systems in the
devices and equipment produced by that sanctioned Chinese company.

Nevertheless, opportunities have also arisen from the situation. The
epidemic has spawned increasing demand for internet-enabled distance
learning and online courses and teleconferences. This means more
business for the information technology industry, especially for the internet
sector. In the meantime, the retrenchment by the Chinese government
departments and businesses has generated demand for a platform and
software for reduction of both the operating cost and electric energy
consumption.

To cope with and capitalize on the difficult operating environment,
Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”, which together with its
subsidiaries, is referred to as the “Group”) has pursued a two-pronged
approach to business development: on the one hand, it actively diversified
its business to broaden its income stream with the aim of tiding itself over
the difficult business environment; on the other hand, its mainstay business
of developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital payment has
been trying to capitalize on the retrenchment measures of both the
businesses and government departments in China by developing a
platform and software for reduction of both operating cost and electric
energy consumption.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

The Group’s most significant move in business diversification was its
acquisition of a majority stake in Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security
Authentication Co,, Ltd. CRIITI R EHLREER A F]) (‘CITIC Cyber
Security”), a company that develops technology and software for internet
electronic identity authentication, in the previous financial year ended 31
March 2019

CITIC Cyber Security fits in with the Group's strategy of constructing an
ecosystem of online/offline digital payment because internet electronic
identity authentication can help prevent the leakage of personal data and
the theft of personal identity in online transactions and payment.

During the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security made progress in its
business development. It signed agreements respectively with a bank and
a certificate authority to promote its proprietary mobile phone SIM
("subscriber identification module”) card-based system for electronic
identity authentication. It also began to develop and implement on behalf
of another PRC-based bank a platform for signing, managing and auditing
contracts electronically. CITIC Cyber Security also started engaging in a
business of subleasing co-working spaces of an office building in Shenzhen
to mainly financial technology start-ups.

Other businesses that the Group also diversified into during the Reporting
Period included the supply of electrical and electronic components; the
research on and development of an application for an online learning
platform, financial software and related information technology system
and solution, and information systems for housing; and the supply and
installation of surveillance cameras as part of a security system.

In its mainstay business of developing systems and solutions for online/
offline digital payment, the Group continued to work with various types of
businesses. The projects that it was undertaking included the development
and construction of a unified payment system and platform, and the
provision of repairing and maintenance services for such a system and
platform; the construction of an e-commerce network platform for
payment and clearing, and installation of point-of-sales ("POS”) terminals;
and the development of software and new functions for a system for the
clearing of payment made by customers with prepaid cards at petrol filling
stations.

E%ﬂ“‘%ﬁﬂ:ﬁﬁ AEENREERER/NE
TE-AFZAZ=T BN E—EMRFEE
HSZE%/ IR EEZREERAA((HEAZ])

MZERE  ZARRELBREEFFHRRY
By B Bt o

TERLZNEMBETFINZR  AIRKRLERS
R ATBEA B L EANE R @RIR A REA S
R - FﬁL/{Eﬁi$’§l%Efv?J:/ RTHFX
A RER AT SR AR AR

RBERR - FEBLTEXBERTARGER -
DR —FRIT R —HKABEBRBRAT B - AHE
BEEBTTHEUAFEIM([AF SO BIEE )R
RANBETHDERER iﬂﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁ%*
FRTAENEFTARE BEELRBEZARD
FE - WSHEE- ¢fmkﬁﬁﬁﬁuﬁ <Yl
B—BERAESEARIEEZR HEFEZERY)
AR E R EE -

BEHARRNEMSZ TEBBEER
RV HE  TRR BB TR ERRE
B RARES R ASERRT R

ARG URBREZAFHERLZEKE

REE
RETF
X 2R
MEE

IS
z
B
=
EEEH

AEBEER L BRTHFNRGERBRT R
FEI -T2 XK BEEKITERAE DK
ENEEREREIBER —XNERLTE
W RZEGERF e RBEEEREERY  B&E
XNBEENRER - ENEFRBERTE X%
KHER([POS]) BRum ik - LA K SR IE R & P
BN RN BEERGRBERM RHTIEE

FTRHEBRRE / ZEEFERE 5



Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

To take advantage of the retrenchment measures of both the government
departments and businesses in China, the Group used the expertise in its
mainstay business to develop and provide a platform and software for
reduction of both the operating cost and electric energy consumption for
a leading PRC-based telecommunications firm. It has been negotiating
with the latter about the project and expects to pilot that platform at two
of the provincial branches of that telecommunication company in 2020.

The possible escalation of the Sino-United States trade war has cast a
shadow of uncertainty over the prospect of business. The United States
may threaten to step up its sanctions against a leading Chinese
telecommunication equipment firm. This can have a serious impact on the
information technology sector. Furthermore, the novel coronavirus
pneumonia epidemic can affect the economy of China and the rest of the
world in 2020. In order to get through the tough times in business, the
Group will take a very prudent approach in business development.
Specifically, it will only undertake projects that call for little input but can
yield large output. It will also continue with its two-pronged approach in
business. Firstly, the Group’s mainstay business will press ahead with its
strategy of constructing an ecosystem of online/offline digital payment. In
that ecosystem, comprehensive online shopping platforms are connected
to digital payment systems for public utilities with a technology for unified
communications. It will continue to cooperate with various types of
businesses in working towards that goal.

Secondly, the Group has already diversified its business to broaden the
source of its income, and it will continue to foster the development of its
diverse businesses. It will also keep an eye open for other business
opportunities that can further widen the income stream.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude to the board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”’), the employees and the
business partners. We will continue to hang together and work for a
brighter future.

Wang Xiaoqi

Executive Director
Hong Kong, 12 June 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The Unites States of America (the “United States”) imposed sanctions
against a major Chinese telecommunications equipment and consumer
electronics company as part of its trade war with the People’s Republic of
China ("PRC" or “China”) in 2019. The measure has prohibited the
installation of the United States operating systems in the devices and
equipment produced by that Chinese company. This seriously affected
China’s telecommunications industry in which the products of that leading
Chinese telecommunications equipment company are widely used. New
information technology projects to be undertaken are thus delayed
because information technology solution providers and their clients such
as telecom carriers may need to switch over to the products of other
telecommunications equipment makers which are not (or at least not yet)
subject to the United States’ sanctions, and because they may need to
negotiate about the copy rights of the United States operating systems
before they can start such information technology projects.

Moreover, the two countries’ trade dispute also dampened China’s
economic growth, causing both the Chinese government departments
and businesses to retrench and reduce budgets, including those for
solutions for online/offline payment. The situation has been exacerbated
by the outbreak of novel coronavirus pneumonia epidemic since the end
of 2019 as most economic activities in China and many other countries had
to be suspended to help prevent the spread of the disease. China’s
economy contracted by 6.8 per cent in the first quarter of 2020 which is
the first decline in the country’s gross domestic product since quarterly
records began in 1992.

Nevertheless, the epidemic has also presented opportunities for the
information technology industry, especially for the internet sector, as it
spawned increasing demand for internet-enabled distance learning and
online courses and teleconferences. Another noteworthy opportunity has
also arisen from the retrenchment by the Chinese government
departments and businesses because it generated demand for a platform
and software for reduction of both the operating cost and electric energy
consumption.

In 2019, the value of the payments processed by non-bank payment
institutions through public information technology networks increased by
20.10% to RMB249.88 trillion while the number of such payments increased
by 35.69% to about 719.998 billion in the PRC, according to the People’s
Bank of China. Both the increases decelerated.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Sino-United States trade war and the novel coronavirus pneumonia
outbreak combined to wreak havoc on China’s economy, whose slowdown
in 2019 deteriorated into contraction in the first quarter of 2020. While the
worsening economy had already caused the Chinese government
departments and businesses to cut budgets, including those on solutions
for online/offline payment, the United states’ sanction against a leading
Chinese telecommunication equipment and consumer electronics
company has put up obstacles to information technology solution
providers starting information technology projects for their clients.

To cope with the difficult operating environment, Quantum Thinking
Limited (the “Company’, which together with its subsidiaries, is referred to
as the "Group”) has been pursuing a two-pronged approach in business
development: on the one hand, it has actively diversified its business to
broaden its income stream; on the other hand, it has tried to capitalize on
the retrenchment measures of both the businesses and government
departments in China by developing a platform and software for reduction
of both operating cost and electric energy consumption through its
mainstay business of developing systems and solutions for online/offline
digital payment.

Since the financial year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Previous Period"), the
Group has diversified into and expanded the business of internet electronic
identity authentication through the acquisition of a majority stake in
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co, Ltd. CRIITTFEH LR
FAHMRAE]) ('CITIC Cyber Security”). Such business also fits in with the
Company’s mainstay business of developing systems and solutions for
online/offline digital payment because internet electronic identity
authentication can help prevent the leakage of personal data in online
transactions and payment.

In June of 2019, the Company’s 70%-held CITIC Cyber Security signed an
agreement with a Shenzhen branch of a PRC-based bank to jointly
promote each other’s respective services, namely CITIC Cyber Security's
internet electronic identity authentication and the bank's financial services.
Under that agreement, eCitizen (“e A" in Chinese), which is CITIC Cyber
Security’s proprietary mobile phone SIM (“subscriber identification
module’) card-based system for electronic identity authentication, will be
applied to the bank’s financial services. The system will enable its digital
identity holders to safely log in, sign digitally and have their personal data
protected in online transactions. In the same month, CITIC Cyber Security
also reached an agreement with a Shenzhen-based certificate authority to
cooperate in combining eCitizen SIM card and digital certificates and in
applying the two combined technologies to such fields as electronic
signature. In January 2020, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to
develop and implement on behalf of another PRC-based bank a platform
for signing, managing and auditing contracts electronically.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE S W DT

Other businesses that the Group also diversified into during the financial
year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period") included subleasing
co-working spaces of an office building in Shenzhen to mainly financial
technology start-ups; the supply of electrical and electronic components,
namely inductors and master control chips; the research on and
development of an application for an online learning platform, financial
software and related information technology system and solution, and
information systems for housing; and the supply and installation of
surveillance cameras as part of a security system.

In the meantime, the Company’s mainstay business of developing systems
and solutions for online/offline digital payment also used its expertise to
develop and provide a platform and software for reduction of both the
operating cost and electric energy consumption for a leading PRC-based
telecommunications firm. It has been negotiating with the latter about the
project and expects to pilot that platform at two of the provincial branches
of that telecommunication company in year 2020.

1. Development and construction of unified payment
system and platform, and the provision of repair
and maintenance services for such system and
platform

The Company's wholly-owned subsidiary Guangzhou YBDS IT Co.,
Ltd. (EMEHE SERHE AR A7) (‘Guangzhou YBDS") finished
the construction of the fifth phase of the unified payment system
and platform of a Shenzhen-based subsidiary of a leading
telecommunications company during the Reporting Period. The
system and platform enable mobile wallet users to make mobile
payment such as those of phone bills and to redeem consumption
points and gift cards. Guangzhou YBDS also undertook renewed
contracts to develop a unified payment platform for that Shenzhen-
based subsidiary of the leading telecommunications company and
to provide repairing and maintenance services for that unified
payment platform for years 2018 and 2019. During the Reporting
Period, the work under the renewed contract on developing a
unified payment platform was completed, and 83% of the work
under the renewed contract on providing repairing and
maintenance services for that unified payment platform was
accomplished. In October 2019, Guangzhou YBDS won a tender for a
contract to develop and maintain a unified payment platform of the
Shenzhen-based subsidiary of that leading telecommunications
company for years 2019 to 2021. It signed the contract in December
2019. During the Reporting Period, Guangzhou YBDS accomplished
40% of the work under the contract on developing a unified
payment platform. Guangzhou YBDS intends to replicate the unified
payment system and platform and then sell them to other units and/
or subsidiaries of that leading telecommunications company in 31
provinces in the PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE S W LT

Construction of an e-commerce network platform
for payment and clearing, and installation of
point-of-sales (“POS"”) terminals

Guangzhou YBDS and its business partner, a Shanghai-based
subsidiary of a third-party payment service company, had together
finished the construction of an e-commerce network platform for
payment and clearing, and the installation of POS terminals at more
than 100 outlets of a retail chain in Beijing. The two parties also
leased out the POS terminals to such outlets of the retail chain.
During the Reporting Period, Guangzhou YBDS and that Shanghai-
based subsidiary of the third-party payment service company
extended their market coverage to the surrounding areas of Beijing.
They plan to install and lease out the POS terminals at the outlets of
the businesses in other service industries such as a convenience
store chain.

Developing software and new functions for a
system for the clearing of payment made by
customers with prepaid cards at petrol filling
stations

The Company'’s another wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen YBDS IT
Co, Ltd. (R YT #1815 B B 5% A [R 2 A]) (‘Shenzhen YBDS’),
cooperated with a third-party payment service company in
developing software and new functions for a system for the clearing
of payment made by customers with prepaid cards at the petrol
filling stations of a leading PRC-based petroleum company and for
topping up such prepaid cards. The two parties also worked together
to develop and construct an electronic commerce platform for the
clearance of payments and to install POS terminals at the gas
stations. Their work lasted from April to June of 2019.

Business of office rental which is bundled with
information technology services and office
administration services in Shenzhen

CITIC Cyber Security started a business of subleasing co-working
spaces of an office building in Shenzhen to mainly financial
technology start-ups. The office rental is bundled with its information
technology services and some office administration services. During
the Reporting Period, it subleased some co-working spaces to twelve
companies.
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Research on and development of an application
for online learning platform, financial software
and related information technology system and
solution, and information systems for housing

During the Reporting Period, the Group signed a contract to research
on and develop an application for an online learning platform,
financial software and related information technology system and
solution, and information systems for housing on behalf of an
information technology solution provider for the period from 15
October 2019 to 14 October 2020. The information systems for
housing include those for a user’s application management, property
management and leasing management.

Supply, installation and testing of surveillance
cameras as part of a security system

During the Reporting period, Shenzhen YBDS signed a contract to
supply, install and test surveillance cameras as part of a security
system on behalf of a company that develops and trades in security
alarms, security cameras and home surveillance equipment, and
other electronic products.

Development and implementation of a platform
for electronically signing, managing and auditing
contracts

In January 2020, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to develop
and implement on behalf of a PRC-based bank a platform for
signing, managing and auditing contracts electronically. During the
Reporting Period, 69% of the work was accomplished.
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PROSPECT

The prospect of business is expected to remain clouded by the possible
escalation of the Sino-United States trade war in which the United States
may threaten to step up its sanctions against a leading Chinese
telecommunication equipment and consumer electronics company. This
can have a very serious impact on the information technology sector.
Moreover, the economy of China and the rest of the world is also expected
to be dampened by the novel coronavirus pneumonia epidemic. It is
against this background that the Company will take a very prudent
approach to business development. Specifically, it will only undertake
projects that call for little input but can yield large output. It will also adopt
a two-pronged approach in business. Firstly, its mainstay business of
developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital payment will
capitalize on the retrenchment of government departments and
businesses by developing and providing a platform and software for
reduction of both the operating cost and electric energy consumption. For
instance, Shenzhen YBDS, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, is
negotiating with a leading PRC-based telecommunications firm and
expects to pilot such platform and software at two of that
telecommunications firms’ provincial branches in year 2020.

Secondly, the Group has already diversified its business to broaden the
source of its income, and it will continue to foster the development of its
diverse businesses. For instance, the Group made progress in its business
of internet electronic identity authentication during the Reporting Period
by signing agreements respectively with a bank and a certificate authority
to promote its proprietary mobile phone SIM card-based system for
electronic identity authentication. In January 2020, the Group signed a
contract to develop and implement on behalf of another PRC-based bank
a platform for electronically signing, managing and auditing contracts. It
also signed a contract in March 2020 to supply information technology
equipment to that bank to enable that platform.

It will also continue to develop other businesses into which it has
diversified, namely the business of subleasing co-working spaces of an
office building to mainly financial technology start-ups; the supply of
electrical and electronic components; the research on and development of
an application for an online learning platform, financial software and
related information technology system and solution, and information
systems for housing; and the supply and installation of surveillance
cameras as part of a security system.

Meanwhile, the Group will press ahead with its strategy of constructing an
ecosystem of online/offline digital payment by cooperating with various
types of businesses. In that ecosystem, comprehensive online shopping
platforms are connected to digital payment systems for public utilities with
a technology for unified communications.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

To ensure that the Company is financially stable with sufficient financial
resources to continue the development of its proposed projects, the
Company had on 5 August 2013, raised net proceeds of approximately
HKS$100 million through a subscription (the “Subscription”). Immediately
after the completion of the Subscription, Happy On held 987,888,771
shares of the Company, representing approximately 72.83% of the total
issued share capital of the Company.

As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in the following manner:

i

) approximately HK$30,000,000 would be used to pay up the
remaining registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing YBDS IT
Co, Ltd* (AL BB E B ERHLBR A R]) (‘Beijing YBDS");

(i) approximately HK$50,000,000 would be used as further investment
for contribution towards the total investment amounts of
Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing YBDS; and

(i) the remaining balance would be used as general working capital of
the Company.

The Company had previously applied approximately HK$9,400,000 (or
approximately RMB7,350,000) and approximately HK$5,500,000 (or
approximately RMB4,330,000) of the proceeds to pay up the remaining
initial registered capital of RMB20,000,000 and increased registered capital
of RMB20,000,000 of Guangzhou YBDS, respectively. During the year ended
31 March 2015, the Company had applied approximately HK$ 19,785,000 (or
approximately RMB15,670,000) of the proceeds to pay up the outstanding
remaining increased registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS.

At the time of the Subscription, only 20% of the registered capital or RMB4
million of Beijing YBDS has been paid up with the remaining 80% or RMB16
million due to be paid on or before 18 December 2014. The Company had
intended to apply to the Bureau of Foreign Trade and Economic
Cooperation of Beijing Municipality (It R T INE S EEER) to
increase the registered capital of Beijing YBDS from RMB20 million to
RMB40 million and its total investment from RMB40 million to RMB80
million. A sum of approximately HK$45.5 million from the proceeds of the
Subscription was earmarked for paying up the initial registered capital and
increased registered capital of Beijing YBDS (the “Capital Increase”). The
intent of the Capital Increase was to enable the Group’s subsidiaries to
meet the minimum capital threshold requirement when submitting bids
for proposed projects offered by the relevant telecommunications service
providers in the PRC.
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Given the Company has acquired China Mobile Payment Technology
Group Company Limited on 23 December 2014, a holding company that
owns a subsidiary with the aforesaid threshold requirement for bids
submission, this corporate action is no longer deemed to be necessary. The
Company has already commenced the process of de-registration of Beijing
YBDS. De-registration has entered into the final stage and is pending for
the approval of PRC authority.

Moreover, the Company intends to apply the aforesaid earmarked
proceeds of approximately HK$45.5 million for new potential projects and
for general working capital purposes.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$26,556,000, representing an increase of approximately
117% when compared with that in the Previous Period of approximately
HK$12,256,000.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$26,710,000 compared with loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$22,928,000 (restated) for the Previous
Period.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

During the Reporting Period, when compared with the Previous Period,
revenue generated from hardware sales increased by approximately
5,513%, while revenue from services increased by approximately 5%.

Geographical segments

The provision of system development services and other value-added
technical consultation services and hardware-related business mainly
caters for the PRC market. Revenue from the Hong Kong segment
represented nil of the total revenue (Previous Period: nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2020, the shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$11,892,000. Current assets were approximately
HK$76,459,000, mainly comprising cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$28,030,000 and trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$10,076,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised trade
and other payables of approximately HK$14,656,000. The net liability value
per share was approximately HK$0.007. The Group's gearing ratio,
expressed as a percentage of bank borrowings and longterm debts over
total equity, was nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group, determined as a ratio
of current assets over current liabilities, was 0.8:1 (as at 31 March 2019:
1.19:1) (restated).
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EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

During the Reporting Period, the Group was only exposed to limited
currency exchange rate fluctuation risks as virtually all of the Group's
monetary assets and liabilities were denominated in Hong Kong dollars as
it conducts its business transactions principally in this currency. The
currency exchange rate risk of the Group is therefore considered to be
immaterial, and the Group did not engage in any hedging activity.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had operating lease commitments in
respect of rented premises and equipment of approximately HKS$0 (31
March 2019: HK$9,992,000). As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group had
no significant capital commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities are included in note 33 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements of this Annual Report.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group had no charges on the Group's
assets.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 45 employees (including 5 Directors)
(31 March 2019: 75 employees (including 5 Directors)). The total
remuneration paid to employees, including Directors, for the Reporting
Period was approximately HK$16,942,000 (Previous Period: HK$16,609,000).
Remuneration is determined by reference to market terms and the
performance, qualification and experience of each individual employee.
Annual year-end double pay is paid based on each individual employee’s
performance as recognition of and reward for their contributions. Other
benefits accruing to the employees include contributions made to
statutory mandatory provident fund scheme and a group medical scheme.
We also subsidise our employees for pursuing further studies in related
fields.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

For the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the “Prospect” section above,
the Group had no significant investments.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the 2020
Annual General Meeting") will be held on Wednesday, 5 August 2020 at
2 p.m. at Regus Conference Centre, 35/F., Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2020 Annual General Meeting to be held on Wednesday, 5
August 2020, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 31 July 2020 to Wednesday, 5 August 2020, both dates inclusive.
During this period, no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In
order to qualify to attend and vote at the aforesaid meeting, all share
certificates with completed transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 30 July 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code Provisions’) in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the Code Provisions set out in the Code throughout the
financial year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period") except for
the deviations from Code Provisions A.1.8 and A.2.1 of the Code as
explained as follows:

Code Provision A.1.8

Code Provision A.1.8 stipulates that the Company should arrange
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Board considered that under the current
situations of close management of the Group and business scale, the
possibility of actual litigation against the Directors is very low. The
Company will consider reviewing various insurance cover proposals and
will make such an arrangement as appropriate.

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaogi and Mr. Ho Yeung focus
on evaluating new potential business and investment opportunities and
formulating and implementing business strategies to enhance the revenue
and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman and chief
executive officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates have been
identified for such purpose.
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COMPLIANCE OF CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ ERETRERZ ZEESE
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities ~ ANATCMESHEITE S L HEEM—EIRFFE] -
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required — E A I N R GEM E T R B 8548 & 567 (6 FT
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. aTZj%f EZE  KPEBEE(EHETEMRE &
Having made specific enquiry, all current Directors have complied with the  B2IR{F & E R B AR S BRI D BT AR T EEMA
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities Z§$ TEERLGZIEEEZERIRETSTE -
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company throughout the

Reporting Period.

EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD MEREHRECESS
Board Composition EE2AK

The Board comprises the following members during the Reporting Period ~ EH & R (ERLE BB M AREBBHRUATHKE
and at the date of this report: 4K -

Executive Directors: HITEE:

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi FEER LA

Mr. Ho Yeung Al A

Independent Non-Executive Directors: BIHHITESE :

Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wit ar oAk

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA

Mr. Wong Kin Kee mEELE
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ExEE=2

EEeREBFETOREH

Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters, review
past financial and operating performance and discuss the Group's direction
and strategy.

REBEHE - ARTORESES

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held.

Details of the attendance of the Board during the Reporting Period are as

HBEmati@
EMBREEESE - Watwm AR E 277 F MRS o

o

% o

TREFEEE 2 RE AL ELEFS

follows:
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
held during held during
the Reporting  the Reporting
Period Period
HERE, HERE,
REEHE REEHE
BTz B2
EZg83 L BRRAEXH
Mr. Wang Xiaoq FEHEE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ho Yeung A e A 4/4 /1
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony MFEE LA 4/4 1/
Mr. Lau Chor Ki M FEE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EEALE 4/4 /1

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group's overall strategy,
considering and approving financial statements, material contracts and
transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The
Board delegates the day to day operation and administration functions to
the executive Directors and the management, while preserving the right to
finally approve key matters and strategic decisions. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to the management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of the
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where the
management should report back and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company. The Directors do not have any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.
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The Board understands that they are responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management system, as well as monitoring and
review of the effectiveness of such system. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the executive Directors and the management of the
Group, and the executive Directors and the management will report to the
Board any findings regarding the risk management systems of the Group.

The Board and the management have reviewed the Group's financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a risk
management policy and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management
policy covers various aspects including systematic risk identification and
assessment and risk response processes, and a comprehensive risk
monitoring and reporting mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft proposed agendas for all Board and committee
meetings are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the extent
possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to keep
Directors or committee members apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company enabling them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to senior management whenever necessary.

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests relating to a substantial shareholder,
Director or Directors, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Company'’s articles of association also
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such substantial shareholder, Director or Directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general meeting,
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

According to Code Provision A4.1 of the Code, non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term of service, subject to re-election.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
17 March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed term of service
with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang is
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1
June 2017. Mr. Ho has entered into a service contract with the Company on
the day of his appointment and has renewed his service contract with the
Company for a term of another three years commencing on 1 June 2020
and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with
the Company’s articles of association.

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr. Tse entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 17 May 2019, and is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Lau has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 1 June 2020 and is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing on
3 April 2018 and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the current
independent non-executive Directors as regards their independence of the
Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers that
each of the current independent non-executive Directors to be
independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for a specific term but subject to the relevant
provisions of the articles of association or any other applicable laws
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office. Mr. Tse Yee
Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, the independent non-
executive Directors, are appointed until 16 May 2022, 31 May 2023 and 2
April 2021, respectively.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

stipulated that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate.

Code Provision A.2.1

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaoqji, and Mr. Ho Yeung focus
on evaluating new potential business and investment opportunities and
formulating a new business strategy to enhance the revenue and growth
potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman and chief executive
officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates have been identified
for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family or other
material and/or relevant relationship between the executive Directors and
members of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Audit Committee.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's audit
findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of accounting rules (if
any), compliance to the GEM Listing Rules, internal and audit control, and
cash flow forecast.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the Reporting Period, the risk management and the internal
control system of the Group.

The Group's unaudited quarterly and half-yearly results and audited annual
results for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee and it is of the view that such financial statements have been
prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control and
risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating effectively for
the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, four meetings of the Audit Committee were
held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit Committee
meetings are as follows:
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Number of

Audit Committee
meetings held during
the Reporting Period
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEEE 4/4
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wit aEE 4/4
Mr. Wong Kin Kee HEASAE 4/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the "Remuneration
Committee’) was established in November 2005 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference on 2 December 2013 in
accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
requirements set out under Code Provisions.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year or on an as
needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages and conditions of employment for the
executive Directors and the senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has performed
its duties to review the remuneration of Board members.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meeting are as follows:
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA 1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WA EE /1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mREASAE /1
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The policies for the remuneration of the executive Directors and, if
appropriate, the independent non-executive Directors are:

—  to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own
remuneration;

—  the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
which the Company competes for human resources;

— the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking
into account individual performance; and

—  the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of
duties and responsibility of individuals.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established in May 2011 and the Company had adopted
a revised specific written terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in
compliance with the Code Provision A.5.

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr.
Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify potential
candidates and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.5.6, the Board has adopted a board diversity
policy and the Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
achievement of the measurable objectives set out in the policy.

The Company recognises and seises the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board's composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee AR EEIE - IBRELEE @ LHEIT—AEE - RS
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination ZE@KEHEEIBLT :
Committee are as follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Nomination
Committee
meetings held during
the Reporting Period
HERE
REBEHREERTZ
REEES
BERE
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEEE N
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wit EEE /1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EREASLA /1
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EERHEE
The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance  ANA R B ?‘E%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁk*ﬂf&iﬁmﬁﬁﬁ

practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order to
achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the Board
is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles concerning
corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following corporate
governance functions:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

(e)  to review the Group's compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and performed

by the Board during the Reporting Period are disclosed and explained in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution to the Board remain
informed and relevant, the Company will be responsible for arranging and
finding suitable training for Directors and providing for its funding.

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction materials
about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as statutory and
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, an individual
training record of each Director is set out below:
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conference/ Reading materials
workshops relating to rules
relevant to rules and and regulations
regulations and the and discharge of
Group's business/  directors’ duties and
directors’ duties responsibilities
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Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi FTREREE 4 v/
Mr. Ho Yeung fAlFSE 4 4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA v 4
Mr. Lau Chor Ki it 2 e A v 4
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mEERE v v/
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael ("Mr. Tung") as its company secretary. Although Mr. Tung is
accessible by all executive Directors and the senior management, Mr. Ho
Yeung and Mr. Wang Xiaogqi, our executive Directors, are the principal
persons with whom Mr. Tung liaises with. For the Reporting Period, Mr.
Tung has received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours
to update his skills and knowledge.

CHANGE IN AUDITOR IN PRECEDING 3 YEARS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 November
2017 in relation to the change of auditor, McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited
resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 27 November
2017. On the same date, the Board appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited ("Grant Thornton") to fill the casual vacancy as the auditor of the
Company until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 April 2020 in
relation to the change of auditor, Grant Thornton resigned as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 14 April 2020 . On the same date, the Board
appointed Prism CPA Limited (“Prism”) to fill the casual vacancy as the
auditor of the Company and to hold office until the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period were audited by Prism whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that Prism will be re-appointed as the auditor
of the Company subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company's auditor, Prism, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
was as follow:
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Audit services EZRS 700
Non-audit services IEE LIRS -
Total Bt 700
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with
effect from 1 January 2019. The Dividend Policy allows the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth.
According to the Dividend Policy, in addition to the final dividends, the
Company may declare interim dividends or special dividends from time to
time.

According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider the following
factors before proposing and declaring dividends:

(i the Group's general financial condition;
(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(iv)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(vi)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

(vii)  the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Laws of the Cayman Islands, the articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board and
there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board together with the management has developed the Group's
internal control, risk assessment and management systems. The Board has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's risk
management and internal control systems to the executive Directors and
the management, and the executive Directors and the management will
report to the Board any findings regarding the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group from time to time.

The Board reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least
annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage and mitigate risks, rather than to eliminate risks, of failure to
achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. We have employed a bottom-up approach for identification,
assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit levels and across
functional areas.

Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the establishment of a risk management policy and a risk
reporting mechanism to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective responsive procedures,
and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not limited to
the followings when identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that
affect the achievements of the Group's objectives:

—  the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

—  the extent and categories of risk that the Board regards as acceptable
for the Group to bear;

—  thelikelihood of the risks materialising;
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—  the Group's ability to reduce the incidence and impact on the
business of risks that do materialise; and

—  the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and identifies
the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives by
performing the followings:

— understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

— determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

— identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving the
objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact of
particular risks; and

— monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in place
to address them.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems by considering factors including but not limited to the
followings:

—  the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

—  the scope and quality of management’s monitoring of risks and of
the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other third party consultants;

—  the extent and frequency of the communication of the results of the
monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which enables it to
build up a cumulative assessment of the state of control in the
Group's and the effectiveness with which risk is being managed;
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—  the incidence of significant control failings or weakness that has
been identified at any time during the period and the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Group's financial performance or condition; and

—  the effectiveness of the Group’s processes relating to financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order to
adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic reviews of
the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant Roma Risk Advisory Limited (‘Roma”) to execute the internal
audit function. Roma has conducted an internal control review of the
effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting procedures, systems and
control for the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 in accordance
with the requirements under Code Provision C.2, according to the scope of
review agreed and approved by the Audit Committee.

Roma reported to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee was
satisfied that there had been no major deficiency noted in the areas of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems being reviewed
after implementation of the recommendations on the internal control
deficiency. The Audit Committee reviews annually the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated procedures and has
access to information necessary to fulfil its duties and responsibilities with
respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the Audit
Committee and the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be effective and have been implemented with adequate
resources during the year.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information being
maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and dissemination
of inside information, which includes:

—  Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

—  Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

—  Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively.

In Year 2020, the Company has followed up on those recommendations
made by the independent consultant as part of its comprehensive review
on the internal controls of the Group. As such, the Group's internal
supervision and risk prevention measures continue to improve.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'’S
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period.

The auditor of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditor’s report contained in this annual report for the Reporting
Period.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditor of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any
one or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and sufficient contact details to enable these
enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Room 1403, 14/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. Proposal shall be sent to the Board by written
requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, a
shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures as
set out in paragraph headed “How shareholders can convene an
extraordinary general meeting” above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and of
the Company (http://www.8050hk.com/).

There are no significant changes in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association during the Reporting Period.
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PRINCIPLES

The Company is pleased to present its environmental, social and
governance report (the “Report’) for the year ended 31 March 2020, with
an aim to demonstrate its efforts on sustainability developments to both
internal and external stakeholders.

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 20 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The Report primarily highlights the Group’s major
initiatives and activities implemented from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020
(the “Year”) for the three environmental aspects and the eight social
aspects.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is committed to the long-
term sustainability of its business, as well as providing support to
environmental protection and the communities in which it operates.
Quality products and services are delivered to customers, and their
business is managed prudently under sound decision-making processes.
Dialogue is maintained with stakeholders such as shareholders, customers,
employees, suppliers, creditors, regulators and the general public. The
Group seeks to balance the views and interests of these stakeholders
through constructive conversation with a view to setting the course for
long-term prosperity. The board of directors (the “Board”) is responsible
for evaluating and determining the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") risks of the Group, and ensuring that relevant risk management and
internal control systems are in place and operate effectively.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of system integration
services and other value-added technical consultation services and
hardware-related business. The Group has also expanded into the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") market in the areas of manufacturing of
ancillary high-tech software and hardware products; developing and
establishing integrated online platforms for the distribution of mobile
products and the provision of value-added services; and setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure mobile
application services.

Excellent Master Investments Limited (“Excellent Master”) is principally
engaged in financing and provision of payroll and administrative services
for group companies in Hong Kong and has an office located in Hong
Kong (the "Hong Kong office").
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Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd. CRIITI R {ZH %
R 78 A BR A A ) (‘CITIC Cyber Security’) is principally engaged in the
technical development and software development of credible identity
authentication services related products in the PRC. Guangzhou YBDS IT
Co, Lid. (BB 1EE LB AR 2 7) (‘Guangzhou YBDS") and
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd. GRIIIT BB {E B RH AR A F) (‘Shenzhen
YBDS") are telecommunications companies which construct unified
payment system and platform. All two subsidiaries located at a Shenzhen
office (the "Shenzhen office").

This Report will focus on the environmental and social aspects of Hong
Kong office and Shenzhen office. For information about the Group’s
corporate governance structure and other relevant information, please
refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 17 to 34 in this Annual
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability of the
Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build both online and
offline communication channels and to provide stakeholders with timely
reports on strategic planning and performance of the Group in order to
establish a continuing communication mechanism with the stakeholders.
In addition, the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.
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B
bodies, employees, customers, suppliers as well as the society and the HEFENUNMHEN AR - AEEEBZEREHR
public. The Group discusses with the stakeholders through various 3P EFTHESENHALE R AN EBNBERERE @ 5F
channels for their expectations and relevant feedback of the Group as B4R :
shown below:

The stakeholders include the shareholders, government and regulatory  #p&EBERE - BTLEEXE - EE &
B

Stakeholder Communication Expectations

BHE BB HE

Shareholders Annual general meetings and other general Financial results

% =R meetings IS EA
REEFAE REMKRREARE Corporate transparency
Financial reports EFERE

B%HmE Sound risk management and internal
Announcements and circulars control
NE KK TERREE R AR
Corporate sustainability
PEAFEER
Governments and regulatory bodies Regular reporting Compliance operation
B N BB R 7€ HAE ¥R BREE
Written or electronic communication Continuous communication
NEBEREFHAER HEBR
Public consultation Beneficial cooperation
NS Rifale
Employees Trainings and seminars Career development
®E ol R BRER
Regular performance appraisal Competitive remuneration and benefits
BRI S BRBF NH AR
Equal opportunity
FEkE
Healthy and safe working environment
EEk%ZETERE
Customers Customer services hotline and email Customer rights and Interests protection
LSS BEFRBAENEE RIEZ PN Kz
Company website Customer privacy protection
NGIFE REZPILE
High quality products and services
BEERK&RY
Suppliers Supplier performance assessment Responsible supply chain management
e HER KRR BEMHERER
Tele-conference Business ethics and credibility
BRAE® BEBEREE
Fair bidding
NFHER
Supplier privacy protection
RIS ERGTLFS

Society and the public
HERkAR

Community investment
HERRE

ESG reports

R HeRERRE

Environmental protection
BRI
Employment opportunities provision

e
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Year, the Group undertook its annual materiality assessment
exercise. This involved conducting interviews and surveys with internal and
external stakeholders to identify the most significant operating,
environmental and social impacts towards its business. The management
and employees who are responsible for the key functions of the Group
have participated in preparing the Report, and have assisted the Group in
reviewing its operations, identifying key ESG issues and assessing the
importance of these issues to its businesses and stakeholders. The material
ESG topics will be covered in the Report.
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The Group's Materiality Matrix during the Year
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ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

The Group has introduced environmental protection awareness into its
day-to-day operations. Employees are encouraged to minimise the energy
consumption and paper wastage. Various sustainable development
measures have been adopted to address environmental responsibilities,
including (i) the establishment of general guidelines for efficient use of
resources; (ii) daily cost-saving proposals such as the prior use of recycle
papers for printing and setting double-side printing as default setting to
reduce the use of paper; (iii) paperless office initiatives to reduce paper
usage; and (iv) promotion on switching off the light after the use of a room
to reduce electricity usage. The Group is committed to continuously
improving the ways these initiatives are being promoted. In addition, the
Group has encouraged green office concept and promoted the 3R
concept, i.e. Reduce, Reuse and Recycle. It has actively reminded its
employees the prevention of environmental pollution and encouraged
waste reduction.

During the Year, the major sources of GHG emissions included purchased
electricity (Scope 2), water consumption and paper waste disposal (Scope
3). Due to the change in reporting scope and effective energy saving
measures, total GHG emissions compared to that in 2019 has decreased.

There is no hazardous waste produced from the operations of Hong Kong
office and Shenzhen office. The Group’s major non-hazardous waste
produced from the operations of these two offices was office paper.

As the Group does not consume a significant volume of water in its
business activities, our operation did not generate material discharges into
water during the Year. Moreover, the amount of water consumption of the
Group represents the sewage discharge volume. The data on water
consumption and corresponding water conservation measures will be
described in the section headed “Use of Resources”.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group'’s emissions in
the Year are shown in the table below:
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BERR Y

AEECRAREEETERRRES  SBEE
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BEEREBEEUWAERSERET  2ROFIEEN
FAEIR —MIES () B BERER  WITED
RELEARKEUALERREERTEASERMIT
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RER AEREBHBNEIERREREIINEE
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AEEFAYHNEBERBEIEIZWTRAR

Exhaust gas emissions BEREEIR

Indicator Unit 2020 2019
B B —E-EF ZE-hEF
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions Kg N/A (Note 1) 548
RENLDHER NI TR (Mfat 1) 548
Sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions Kg N/A (Note 1) 0.09
=R |2z e NI TR (Mfat 1) 0.09
Particulate matter (PM) emissions Kg N/A (Note 1) 040
TR HE AR NI TR (Mfat 1) 040

Note T: Since the Group does not have motor vehicles, no exhaust gas emissions (including

nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides and particulate matter) are generated.
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GHG emissions BERKBHENR

Indicator Unit 2020 2019

B By —BCEF —B-hF

Direct emissions from use of petrol consumption (Scope 1) Kilogram of carbon dioxide N/A (Note 1) 16,559
equivalent ("Kg CO_e")

ERARESNEZEHNE (8E1) AT_AfEmEE NaER (Kat1) 16,559
(Ar=sEtHmEL])

Indirect emissions from electricity consumption (Scope 2) ~ Kg COe 31,304 42,479

REMESNREEYRE (HE2) ATZAfkEmEE 31,304 42,479

Other indirect emissions from water consumption and KgCO.e 806 1,548

disposal of paper waste at landfills (Scope 3)

KRR EEREERANEMEZERE (BE3) [F8tKEs 806 1,548

Total GHG emissions KgCOe 32,110 60,586

BERBHNEE R —S|cES 32,110 60,586

Intensity of GHG emissions (Note 2) Kg CO,e/square meter (‘'m?") 18 26

RERBENERE (Ki2) D@L E R FHK 18 26
(I EHK]D)

Note 1: Since the Group does not have motor vehicles, no relevant GHG is generated. Bz ERAEEWEAE QU EELERRERE -

Note 2: As at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, total floor area of offices included inthe ~ MfiF2: RZE_EF=A=+-—BR-ZT-—NF=ZA=+—
reporting scope were 1,812.44 m? and 2,356 m? respectively. These data are used for A HAREBEANNSEREEEEED 5I1/R181244
other intensity calculation as well. FIRK2356F 7K - BRABIETIBIETEREMEE -

Wastes EEZEY

Indicator Unit 2020 2019
s B —B-®F  —B-hE
Hazardous wastes produced in total Kg N/A (Note 1) N/A (Note 1)
MELAETRREYEE NIy NERHE)  TEAARET)
Intensity of hazardous wastes Kg/m? N/A N/A
BEBEEYNTE R/ FIR TE A TiEHA
Non-hazardous wastes produced in total Kg 121 (Note 2) N/A (Note 3)
MELETRREYEE NI 121 (ffaE2)  FNER(AfRE3)
Intensity of non-hazardous wastes Kg/m? 0.07 N/A
BEBRRYTE R/ FIR 007 @M

ffer: AEEBEEESERRTIEELEEHEEREY B
By BEENEAEECENE -

Note I: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including chemical wastes, clinical
wastes and hazardous chemicals in its operations.

Note 2: This figure represents the major non-hazardous waste produced by the Group, which is 372 : ZEBIEAEEESAN T EREHEEY)—PAZHE

office paper.

FifaE3 A BRI AR SR 200 A PR 15 % 28 BE PTEE AR S BRIR 0
ELEBAZENBERZVHEBEN  WILEILE
RABUE -

Note 3: Due to the limitation on data collection system and the production of minimal amount
of non-hazardous wastes by the offices which have no material impact on the
environment, no relevant figure is quantified.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Relevant laws and
regulations include but are not limited to Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Water Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China and Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China as well as Air
Pollution Control Ordinance and Water Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong. In addition, no fine or non-monetary sanction for non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the
Year.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business activities on
the environment. A number of initiative measures designed to conserve
resources have been introduced to promote employees’ awareness of the
need for resources conservation and achieving efficient utilisation of
resources.

As mentioned in the above “Emissions” section, the Group has several
policies to minimise the electricity consumed by the employees. The
Group has required its employees to switch off the equipment, including
air-conditioners, computers, printers, photocopiers and lights when they
finish work. Air conditioners are set for indoor temperature between 24 to
26 degrees Celsius in summer, with an aim to reduce electricity usage. In
addition, the Group has encouraged the installation of compact fluorescent
light-bulbs, T5 fluorescent lamps and light emitting diode (‘LED"). Water
efficiency initiatives have also been promoted as the Group has reminded
its employees to check the water supply equipment, keep the water tap off
when not in use and arrange for immediate repairs in case of leakage or
other damages. With such measures adopted, employees’ awareness on
energy and water conservation has been enhanced.

During the Year, the Group consumed electricity at offices as its only
energy source. Due to the change in reporting scope, as well as effective
energy and water saving measures, both energy consumption and water
consumption compared to that in 2019 have decreased.

Due to the geographical location of the Group's offices, the Group does
not encounter any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
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Relevant consumptions from operation EEELWEREE

Indicator Unit 2020 2019
B B —E-BF —E-hF
Electricity consumption in total kWh 37,981 51,681
BREE TR 37,981 51,681
Intensity of electricity consumption kWh/m? 20.96 21.94
AEERE TEE,F75K 20.96 21.94
Water consumption in total Cubic metre (“m3") 363 865
HAKE SR AZFRY) 363 865
Intensity of water consumption m?/m? 0.20 0.37
FAKEEE SRS FTK 020 037
Packaging materials used for finished products Kg N/A (Note 1) N/A (Note 1)
B am P A B S NIy NER (K1) TEm M)
Intensity of packaging materials used Kg/unit produced N/A N/A
BEDEEREE R/ EEEN TEmA TE A

Note 1: As the Group's business operation is not involved in production process, no packaging

material was consumed by the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite that there is no significant impact on the environment and natural

resources from the operations, the Group is dedicated to providing

employees a comfortable and green working environment by cleaning the

air-conditioning system including air filters and air ducts regularly and

selecting products with low or zero in volatile organic compounds emitted.

Also, the Group encourages all employees to participate in different kinds

of recycling activities to minimise the use of natural resources.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment
Recruitment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees based
on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during the recruitment
process. To ensure that the rights and interests of employees are well
protected, employment contracts must be discussed and agreed with
prospective employees regarding salaries, benefits, annual leave and other
employment related issue, prior to signing by the employees.

Promotion, compensation, and dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions and salary
increments based on the results of the employees’ performance reviews.
Dismissals of employees have been performed in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong Kong and Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China. The relevant provisions on termination of
the employment are set out in the employment contract of every staff.

Working hours, rest periods and benefits

Both Hong Kong and Shenzhen offices are operated under a five-day work
week arrangement with statutory leaves provided such as annual leaves,
sick leaves, maternity leaves, in order to allow employees to have adequate
rest periods. The Group has also provided medical allowance, MPF schemes
(for Hong Kong employees only) and other benefits to employees. For
employees in Mainland China, the Group will pay for their “five social
insurance and one housing fund” including endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, employment injury insurance,
maternity insurance and Housing Provident Fund pursuant to the law in
order to safeguard the benefits of social insurance of employees.

Equal opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination

The Group's human resources policy states and their management ensure
that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of age, sex, marital
status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality or religion, etc. Any
form of discrimination is prohibited during any of their decision-making
processes, including normal operations and any recruitment process.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. Relevant laws and
regulations include but are not limited to Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
as well as Employment Ordinance and Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed a total of 42 employees
(independent non-executive directors excluded), of which all were full-
time staff. The distribution of workforce classified by different catalogues is

RZE_ZEF=—A=+—0 rEBSHERL
HZRE(NEIEBIENITES) - WAEMIES -
ERRERNE D 2 REABSHOT ¢

Male %

as follows:
By gender
gk By
Female ZZ 1%
33%
By age
RERED

Over 50 Under 30

years old years old

5055 A 305K A T

7% 24%

30-50
years old

30BRZ2505%
69%
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During the Year, the Group’s employee turnover rate is as follow:

RER > AEENEERAEMT

Turnover rate (%)

K E (%)
By gender R R & D
Male St 57%
Female gegis 63%
By age RERE D
Under 30 years old LR305% 74%
30-50 years old 30E5075% 56%
Over 50 years old 838 50 5% 29%
By location & it & &l 5
PRC a3 62%
Hong Kong BE 33%
Health and Safety REEZE

The Group places great importance on its people-oriented principles and
employees’ health and safety, such as providing employees with masks
during haze in the PRC, installing air purifiers at offices, providing medicines
for employees in case of sickness, etc.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in their offices, the Group
has established a health and safety management practices to enhance
their safety management and promote employee safety awareness and
established safety measures, for example, they will regularly send emails
and relevant materials to employees to advocate the importance of a safe
working environment.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. Relevant laws and regulations
include but are not limited to Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases and Provisions on the
Supervision and Administration of Occupational Health at Work Sites as
well as Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong. No work-
related fatalities and no loss days due to work injury were noted.
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Development and Training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages them to
participate in continuous learning through their career. The Group has its
tailor-made [T-related examination system for internal employees of most
of the departments. Apart from this, it has also provided training courses to
employees or subsidised them in joining external training courses
organised by professional bodies. On the other hand, learning experiences
will also be provided to employees through job allocation, improvements
in soft skills will also benefit employees in their career development in the
long run.

During the Year, all employees had completed trainings for an average of
50 hours per employee, achieving a 100% of employees trained.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the Group.
During the Year, the Group has strictly complied with all respective laws
and regulations regarding the employment of child labour and forced
labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention of child labour and forced
labour were included in the Employee Handbook and human resources
policies.

The minimum requirement for newly recruited middle-level and senior-
level employees of the Group are graduates from universities. Background
checks and reference checks of potential new employees were also
performed during the recruitment process. Relevant details regarding
treatment of employee violation were also included in the Employee
Handbook and human resources policies.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to preventing child and forced labour. Relevant laws and
regulations include but are not limited to Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Employment Contracts as well as Employment Ordinance and Employment
of Children Regulations of Hong Kong. In addition, there was no fine or
non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations had been reported in the Year.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

During the operations, the Group encourages its suppliers and business
partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line with the Group, it
has imposed strict requirements (both environmental and social
requirements) on its suppliers and business partners. Its partners are all
worldwide reputable companies and known for their ethical standards. In
selecting and evaluating its suppliers and business partners, their attitudes
towards environmental and social issues, including human rights, equal
opportunities were also considered. During the Year, there were a total of 9
suppliers and all of them were located in the PRC.

Environmental and social risks management

The Group requires environmentally friendly practices on its suppliers and
business partners. For example, it required its business partners to be
certified with the 1SO14001 or GB/T24001 or other related environmental
management system certifications. During supplier and business partner
selection processes, it considers environmental protection as one of the
key assessment criteria and expects the potential impact on the
environment to be minimised during normal operations by its suppliers
and business partners. The Group has also set up health and safety
requirements for its suppliers and business partners, for example, business
partners have to be certified with OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other
related occupational health and safety management system certifications.

Product Responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand effect
and product quality. Besides setting high requirements for its suppliers and
business partners during its selection phases, the Group has also
emphasised product quality improvements, provided after-sales services to
its customers, and has continuously worked closely with its customers and
business partners to solve problems.

Quality management

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects are utmost
important for sustainable development of the Group. In order to ensure
that the Group delivers high quality services and sustainable projects to its
customers, the process of the projects is controlled and monitored
regularly. Process control procedures has also been established to ensure
that the deliverables meet the customers’ specification and satisfactory
standard.

During the Year, no recalls of products had taken place. Besides, no
complaints related to product and service were received, nor any litigation
was laid against the Group. Any incidents (mostly technical problems) were
resolved immediately once occurred.
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Privacy and intellectual property protection

As a responsible service provider, all confidential data related to the
Group's business, financial and customer information are securely
protected and only used for internal purpose. Besides, confidentiality
agreements must be signed between the Group and its suppliers and
business partners to protect customers’ data and privacy. Employees are
trained to maintain the confidentiality of customers’ information.

Regarding the Group's trademarks, terms in relation to such intellectual
property rights are included in the cooperation agreements between the
Group and its suppliers and business partners. The Group recognises the
importance of intellectual property protection, therefore it is dedicated to
protecting and enforcing the Group's own IP rights as well as the IP rights
of third party.

Advertising and labelling

As a company principally engaged in the provision of system integration
services and other value-added technical consultation services and
hardware-related business, the Group does not have any significant issues
on advertising and labelling. Nevertheless, in the Group’s dealings with its
clients, information provided should be complete, true, accurate, clear, and
comply with all relevant laws and regulations regarding the proper
advertising.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
Relevant laws and regulations include but are not limited to Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China as well as Trade
Marks Ordinance and Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong. In
addition, there was no fine or non-monetary sanction for non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the Year.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such as
bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. The Group believes that its
employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained a strong
ethical conduct during regular business.

48 Quantum Thinking Limited / Annual Report 2020

RELBRAHERE

ERBAENRBHER BARAKEER M5
REFEMNMERTRBAZRE EHAR
B - s AEBEEHER M EBRBHIE
BRI RE W UWREEFPBELLE - BER
XEI - REFPHERRE °

IAKENEIRN S  AEMBEENEKCH
AR B BHER M EBRHITLNAEREA
AEBERAOREMNBEENEZMN - Bt 1M
HOIRERTRASEE S NAERRE=TTH
FIBERE -

RERER

ERET BN FRERNEK M EMIEE IR
RIEAREHEAEBHORE  AEEEES R
SHOELEEAME - A EAREEEE
FHETRSE RN ERBER=<H  BE
ERELEW  YNEBRESNAARBERRK
R

RER AEEETNEETAENERBRBEM
REERERBOHBERZE - BEEY 155K
LEBEEMBENEZWENERLBERTE
MIER - AR MERERETRN(FEAR
HMBEZME) (hEARKMEERE) (P
AR KMEZ(ERRZIA R B BRG] N
e B IERDL) o tESN - FRTRR S IR A REE XA
BERERMEX SR IEEEHIR 2 |ME -

RES
AEEB AP EEARANEISEN - HINERR -
MRE - MAFPHREAGE - AEEBEEEER

HEMMEBEHRETRAERBERECERSE
HERIERST



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiE - g RERdmE

corporate governance

The Group realizes the importance of internal control to a zero-corruption
company culture. Information on preventing conflict of interest is included
in the Employee Handbook of the Group and was distributed to all
employees to follow. Besides, during every tendering process, an Integrity
Agreement must be signed by both the Group and the suppliers or
business partners. The Group has ensured that all relevant parties will act in
accordance with its requirements on anti-corruption in order to prevent
any bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during the operation.

As stated in the Employee Handbook, employees should not have a
financial or other personal interest in a transaction between the Group and
any of its business units and a vendor, supplier, provider or customer in
order to avoid conflict of interest. Employees are required to declare
situation which may present a conflict of interest to their supervisor and
the Board will be notified.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material noncompliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. Relevant laws
and regulations include but are not limited to Law of the People’s Republic
of China Against Unfair Competition as well as Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong. No concluded legal case regarding corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering was noted.

Community Investment

The Group values community contributions and always seeks to be a
positive force in the communities in which it operates and maintains close
communications and interactions with the communities in order to
contribute to local development from time to time. In addition, the Group
also focuses to inspire our employees towards social welfare awareness.
Employees are encouraged to participate in volunteer works aiming to
help and support the local communities and neighbours.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED HeE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

QU A
T
17

1 2l
M
A

General Disclosures and KPIs  Description Section/Declaration
TEHE - BEH —REER B89
BRENES
Aspect A1: Emissions
EEA : BB
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
—MRIRE ARABERNBREREBEN - FKRLHHEES  AEREERZYNE HRY
E%E’U :
) BE R
b) BTHEITAREATENHEEERRPIFER -
KPI' A1.1 ("comply or explain”) The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — Exhaust Gas

B E MR A
(W\L—T?ﬁﬁﬁ%)

KPI A1.2 ("comply or explain”)
FRERIERA12
([TE<FpthRiz])

KPI'A1.3 ("comply or explain”)

BB ERIEEA
(W\}a?mﬂﬁ)

KPI A1.4 ("comply or explain”)
BIERIREAL4

(I E~PRiARRE])

KPI'A1.5 ("comply or explain”)
B ERIEEA
(W\}a?mﬂﬁ)

KPI' A1.6 ("comply or explain”)

BIREAUEIR A6
([T E TR

B iEsE AR B R EUE -

GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity.

/Euiﬁﬁfi@ﬁtﬁyi<lf/( @n-‘_:—:) &TZJA_

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity.

FRELAEREYRE NEE) REE

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity.

FELEERZEYEE ANETE) REE

Description of reduction initiatives and results achieved.

R E ORI RAEMAR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
reduction initiatives and results achieved.

HlRIEEERBERZNNTTE  REELENEREAFTRR
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs

TRER BE —REER

BREMER

Description
R

Section/Declaration

1008 L

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EBEA2: ERER

General Disclosure

— MR EE

KPI A2.1 ("comply or explain”)
RSB RIEIR ALY

([T E<FpthRiE])

KPI' A2.2 (“comply or explain”)
BRERIERA22

([T E-TRLARRE])

KPI A2.3 ("comply or explain”)
FRAAMIERA23

([T EFpthRiE])

KPI' A2.4 (“comply or explain”)

MRENIERA24
([T E-FRtARE])
KPI'A2.5 (“comply or explain”)

RIS AUIEIR A25
([T E TR

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

AMERER(BIEER  KREAMRME) BE o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity.

RERBNNERRIRERERERTE

Water consumption in total and intensity.

RREKEREE

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

H L BE R BE A Rzt it B M PTG AR

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

W SKEERKR LR A AR - AR Akt 8 AT R

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and with
reference to per unit produced.

LNRFABEMNEE (VA E) REBEESBLE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEA3 : RERXARER

General Disclosure

—MREE
KPI' A3.1 ("comply or explain”)

PSR IR A3
([T ETHAFE])

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

BEBETAHRREIAAREREREATENBE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HRAEBEHHRREIRAERNEATYERCRNEREBTENT
o

Use of Resources

BREH
Use of Resources

BIRER

Use of Resources

BRER

Use of Resources

BIRER

Use of Resources

BRER

Use of Resources (Not
applicable — explained)
BREA(TER —
ERE)

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RIERRAER
The Environment and
Natural Resources

BRERRRER

EFRRARAR / B BEEHE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB g hERWE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs  Description

Section/Declaration

TEHSR  BE —REER M B 8B
RRERES
Aspect B1: Employment
EEB : B
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—MRIKEE BERFMLfmE BERES THERE RE TE5He Zxt EE
&ﬁﬁu&ﬂm%ﬁ&%ﬂm=
) BR M
b) BFHETABERZENHMERLROINER -
KPIB1.1 (recommended disclosure) Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical ~ Employment
region
MRERIEREL (RERE) RUM - ERER  FRARNHESSNES A - B
KPIB1.2 (recommended disclosure) Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment
MRENIERE 2 (BERE) IR FRERN R DHESRKLE &R
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: REHEZE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
— MR ﬁ%%@?%lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%%¥ﬁﬁ%m: fEpEEZ S
) BK &
b) BFHETABEARTZENHBERLROINER -
KPIB2.1 (recommended disclosure) Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
MRENIEERL (BB RE) RIEBERMAETHARRLE- fEREZE
KPI B2.2 (recommended disclosure) Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
MRENIER2(RERE) HEIBBAIERH- fEpEEZ S
KPI B2.3 (recommended disclosure) Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are  Health and Safety
implemented and monitored.
MRENIERE23 (BERE) MAMRMNBERRRET2ER AREBRTRERTE - fREZ S
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
o N WA S
RE g MERWE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs  Description
TEHE - -BEH —REER
RRERES

Section/Declaration

1008 L

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : #EREH

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at

work. Description of training activities.

— MR EE BERRTHE S BT TIERE M A MR R - HEINEE -

KPIB3.1 (recommended disclosure) The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).

MREMIEEE3 (A RE) RUSINESER(NERERE TREEES) ASINIIEER
£ o

KPI B3.2 (recommended disclosure) The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

MRENIEREE32 (BERE) RUMNKESRRES  SRESTRXINN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEE B4 : &5 TR
General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
ﬁﬁ%tgli%ﬁ 5TH)
) BK &
b) BFHETABEARTZENHBERLROINER -

—RIE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

FEEBs : HEEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
—MRIKEE ERHERAORE M G E B BR

KPI B5.1 (recommended disclosure) Number of suppliers by geographical region.

PBREMIERES (REARE) RRIADHHEEDHHE -

Development and Training

BRRE

Development and Training

BRERE

Development and Training

BRRE

Labour Standards

Supply Chain Management
HrEREE R
Supply Chain Management
HreEE R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIS - A RERWmE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs  Description
TEHE - -BEH —REER
RRERES

Section/Declaration

1008 L

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmEE
General Disclosure Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods of

redress.
—MEE BRMREERNRENERRELE  BS  REERLESEURGN
FER
) BR R

BTHETAREAYENRMERRAGINER

KPI B6.1 (recommended disclosure) Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and

health reasons.

BRENERs (HERE) CEICERERSHETRR2ERFEAMARRNEDL -

KPI B6.2 (recommended disclosure) Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are

dealt with.

BREAUERBo (ZHAWE) BREBNERMRBOKFEE AREHTTE -

KPI B6.3 (recommended disclosure) Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual

property rights.

RERERee3 (RERE) HARGERRENIERFHNED -

KPIB6.5 (recommended disclosure) Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are

implemented and monitored.

PsEMER RS (EERE) HIBBEENRERLBRE  URABMIRERTE -
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Product Responsibility

ot
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o
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Product Responsibility

— Quality management

EmET—EEER

Product Responsibility

— Quality management

EnEf—E=2E8E

Product Responsibility

— Privacy and intellectual
property protection

EmEfE —RELEK

B

Product Responsibility

— Privacy and intellectual
property protection

EmEE— RELER

B EE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - He RERWmE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHSR  BEH —REER
RRERES

Description

i

Section/Declaration

£ 1

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EBEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPIB7.1 (recommended disclosure)

MRE NIRRT GRERE)

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁt%ﬁ% CBR - BRFROAREN
) BOE - K&

b) BFHETABEARTZENHBERLROINER -
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of
the cases.
FE#&%W%%&??AE&EEE%&M‘EE%%E’U SARARMEBE Kk
I\D%

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
FRAHELERTBEEMEHERENRREERIDHGERLE
NIZREER

FTRHERRRR /| —T_TFE

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

RE)S

Community Investment

HEERE

=+

Ed

R

H
=
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREREBE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi (£ EEEF &4 ) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 41, was appointed
as an executive Director on 17 March 2015 and was re-elected on 3 August
2015, 1 August 2017 and 30 July 2018 respectively, and a director of nine
subsidiaries within the Group. He has been a business manager of
Guangzhou YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (B M BB E E R E B R 2 7)), an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since May 2014. He
has over 15 years of working experience in the telecommunications
industry in China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang was the deputy
general manager of Hua Strong Network Science and Technology Limited
Company* ( 2 X 49 45 Bt £ B BB 22 8] ) and Beijing Huagin World
Technology Limited Company* (3t RZEZ) KR BR A F]), both of
which are indirect subsidiary of the Company, from 2000 to 2014. Mr. Wang
resigned from both companies in April 2014. He obtained a bachelor
degree from Beijing University of Technology ( 4t 5% T % K £ )in
Computer Controls and Applications. As at the date of this report, Mr.
Wang is interested in 382,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 0.028% of the total number of ordinary shares
in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not have
any interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does
not hold any position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does
not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last
three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Ho Yeung ({1 3% 5 &£ ) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 65, was appointed as an
executive Director on 1 June 2017 and was re-elected on 3 August 2017
and 5 September 2019. Since 1999, Mr. Ho has been a senior executive at a
leading high-tech software company in China and has held the post of
executive director of a renowned real estate company in China for more
than ten years. Since 1994, Mr. Ho has been on the board of members of
the council at the China Association for the Promotion of Investment. Mr.
Ho was an independent non-executive director of China Gas Holdings
Limited (stock code: 384), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), from 12 December 2012 to
27 November 2017. As at the date of this report, Mr. Ho is interested in
18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares in issue of the Company.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not have any interest in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not hold any position in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in
any public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EENSHAERECER

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (¥ £ 4) (“Mr. Tse”), aged 50, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014, and was re-
elected on 23 June 2014, 1 August 2017 and 5 September 2019
respectively. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree with honors in Finance
and Accounting from University of Salford, United Kingdom and a degree
in Executive Master of Business Administration from Richard Ivey School of
Business, The University of Western Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tse is a member of
each of lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society, American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, Institute of Accountants Exchange, Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute and Hong Kong Securities
Professionals Association. Mr. Tse is also an associate member of The
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United Kingdom
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse has over
18 years of experience in corporate finance and accounting and has
worked for several international accounting firms, investment banks and
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tse is currently a managing director of corporate
finance department in Essence Corporate Finance (Hong Kong) Limited
and acts as its principal under the sponsor regime. Mr. Tse was a non-
executive director of China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Fairson Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8132) from 10
January 2014 to 30 April 2015. Mr. Tse was also a non-executive director of
Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8147) from 6
October 2014 to 17 July 2017. Mr. Tse is a responsible officer licensed under
the SFO to carry on Type 1
corporate finance) regulated activities. Mr. Tse does not have any interests

(dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on

in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse does not hold any position in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in
any public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Tse is not connected with any Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREREBE

Mr. Lau Chor Ki (#12 3 %4 ) (“Mr. Lau”), age 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2017, and was re-elected
on 3 August 2017 and 30 July 2018. Mr. Lau holds a diploma in
Management from Hong Kong Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the Hong
Kong Management Association), a certificate programme on writing
precisely what you mean from the Hong Kong Management Association, a
certificate of Practice in Chinese Property Laws — a distance learning
certificate programme from the Hong Kong Management Association. Mr.
Lau joined in Hang Seng Bank group (stock code: 00011) and had served in
the group for 40 years from 1973 to 2013. During this period, Mr. Lau
worked in various departments including retail banking, loans department,
credit control and administration. Also, he was a department head
monitoring the central cash of the bank when retired in May 2013. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Lau does not hold any position in the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Lau is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau does not
have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (EZE 54 ) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 67, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2018, and was
re-elected on 30 July 2018. Mr. Wong graduated from Columbia Radio
Institute (SF AR EL 25 M8 48 T T2 2242 ) majoring in radio engineering in
1978. Mr. Wong has been working for Mitsubishi Electric Hong Kong Group
ld. ( = Z 7 & # B BR 2 7] ) (formerly known as Ryoden Electric
Engineering Co,, Ltd. (2B L2 BR A 7)) from 1970 to 2010. He has
been responsible for the company’s China business since 1983. He was the
key responsible person for its subsidiary established in China, his last
position was a supervisor of the executive department and was mainly
responsible for its elevator business. Mr. Wong is currently a director of
Jinxiong Plastic Industry Co,, Ltd* (88 (¥8B8) T AR A 7)) and an
executive director of Shenzhen Sanli Mechanical and Electrical Equipment
Engineering Co,, Ltd* CRINTT =N # B R TR AR LR F]), both are
agents for electrical products of Changzhou Sanli Electrics Company* (&
N =FIE 2R A)). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong does not hold
any position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold
any directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong is not connected with any Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders
of the Company. Mr. Wong does not have any interests in the shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
ESWES

The Directors submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of Quantum Thinking Limited (the
“Company’) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2020 (the "Reporting Period").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group focused to strengthen its business
development in the areas of trading of high-tech software and hardware
equipment; developing and establishing payment platforms to provide
mobile payment services and value-added services; and setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure mobile
application services, among others. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group's principal activities during the Reporting Period.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating segments for the
Reporting Period is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 7 to 16 of this
Annual Report. This discussion forms part of this Directors' report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page /9.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 67. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options are set out in
notes 32 and 37 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 82 and note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share premium)
amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and business
partners are the key to continuous sustainable development. We commit
to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with employees, and
work together with our business partners to provide high quality products
and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and
contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
with all related laws and regulations in all material aspects which may have
significant impact on the operation of the Group.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
ESWES

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the Reporting Period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 1 August 2011 by the shareholders
of the Company under which the executive Directors may, at their
discretion, grant options to themselves and any employees of the Group
entitling them to subscribe for shares representing up to a maximum of 10
per cent of the shares in the Company in issue from time to time. The
purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to participants as incentives and rewards for their contribution to
the Company or its subsidiaries.

No options were granted under the share option scheme since its adoption
by the Company or outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised at any time
during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi
Mr. Ho Yeung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Mr. Lau Chor Ki
Mr. Wong Kin Kee

Pursuant to Articles 84 (1) of the articles of association of the Company, Mr.
Wang Xiaogi and Mr. Lau Chor Ki shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang
Xiaoqi is also a director of the Company’s subsidiaries. Other director of the
Company's subsidiaries during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report was as follows:

Mr. Li Kwan Shing

BE - HEIED LHRSG

ARARECAMBARR RS HHEMERE
HEKBRERARF LR

BRESTE
BREAARBRER-_T——FN\A—BRMAZE
Bt S ATESARBEREBRETRER
AEBEEARES  BTRERNZBBHEZEHAR
BB 2 BT 100 2 LD - BRI 815 £
AEARARSEALRLBRE ERERER
ARBHEMBATMELEM 2 RE)REE

BARBRABEE EIAK - SEBRERE
BRAFTEIIR L - SRR HAR (AT A 8 1 R T T
KRR EBHRATEE

E £
RBEHHRREARERS E5A

HITES
TEHRELE
FRE

BAFHTES
WFEELE
it
BEASE

BREBEARFABKEREZAUFE 4G ErBEEE
KR EERREERFBEF RS LRERS
BER  YREREERRBFAS LEFET -

AREMBLARZES
REEHERBESREAS - TRALENA
AREMBAR2ES - RESHHRBELSR
SRMAARAMBARZLEERIIMT :

TEFSTE

EFRHEMAR / —S-BFEHE 61



Report of the Directors
EEWES

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony for a term of three years
commencing from 17 May 2019, (b) Mr. Lau Chor Ki for a term of three
years commencing from 1 June 2020, (c) Mr. Wong Kin Kee for a term of
three years commencing from 3 April 2018, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company'’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi presently do not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang Xiaogi will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2020, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company'’s articles of
association.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 56 to 58.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors' remuneration is determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company (the ‘Remuneration Committee”) with reference to their
relevant qualifications, experience and duties and responsibilities in the
Group and prevailing market conditions.
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Report of the Directors
ESWES

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and the
Company had adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 2
December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the requirements set out under Code Provisions.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin,
Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any of the
Company's holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company or a connected entity of the
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, at no time during the
Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, (i) Mr. Wang Xiaoqi is interested in 382,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company; (i) Mr. Ho Yeung is interested
in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, none of the other Directors or their respective associates
and the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the minimum standards of dealing by directors of
the Company as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, so far as the Directors are aware of and having made
due enquires, the following persons had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO and/or
were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any other members of the Group:

EEH&%%H&@‘HQB@H&@ZEE&

R-ZZE-ZZTF=A=+—8 BESEHEFE
BTN THALTRARAG KD KMEERG
FHRARARRERESLAEGKROIEB6IEEFE
2B S RAR & REEKEE
HE MR EEAER TR AEB T EA
REBRARZBREARG HIRE 2 BEITRA 5% 3k A
s

Approximate

percentage of
Number of issued share
issued ordinary capital as at
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held 31 March 2020
R-Z-ZH
=A=+-—H
e &17 HEBITRE
BRERE S &1 EERHE BMABS
(Note 2) (Note 3)
Mzt 2) (Fizt3)
Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On") (Note 1) Beneficial owner

Happy On Holdings Limited ([Happy On ) (fiizt1)  EX#EA 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%

Mr. Chan Foo Wing (“Mr. Chan”) (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation
RERaE(TREED (T R EEER 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%

Notes:

1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in the 987,888,771 shares held by Happy

On.
2. “L" means long positions in the shares.
3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2020.
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Report of the Directors
ESWES

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the largest and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 83% and 97% of the Group's total
purchases respectively. Sales to the largest and the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 37% and 92% of the Group's
total sales respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business which competed with
or might compete with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the
benefit of any Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or
of its associated company (made by the Company).
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in May 2000, and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 10 January 2019 in
accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non- executive
Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the Audit
Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 17 to 34 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the years ended 31 March
2018 and 2019 were audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited. Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 14 April 2020 and Prism CPA Limited was appointed as the
Company'’s auditors to fill the casual vacancy on the same date. For the
Reporting Period, the financial statements of the Company have been
audited by Prism CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint Prism CPA
Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed to the shareholders
of the Company for approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 12 June 2020
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Summary Financial Information

MG ER R E

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-  ANEBBERFEMBRFE ZERAHEEANLEE
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as B &R IEIERER (B KB BERER) 2

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below: (il N
FINANCIAL SUMMARY MBREE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE_Z-_TF=A=1+—HIFE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
SEDEE —ZT-hEF ZETN\F ZT—+tF ZET—RHF
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
F#E T FHIT FHIT FHT FHIT
(restated)
(F&E5))
RESULTS E
Revenue Wz 26,556 12,256 17,258 28,5601 316,706
Loss before taxation KA AT E 18 (33,225) (34,232) (12,703) (67,033) (1,558)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigfiE e, (k) 606 (229) 431 (251) (3,482)
Loss for the year from FABFELE
continuing operations XBEENBE (32,619) (34,461) (12,272) (67,284) (5,040)
Discontinued operations, BRI E T
net of tax MrFH12 - - - 773 (965)
Loss for the year FNBE (32,619) (34,461) (12,272) (66,511) (6,005)
Attributable to: LA ARG
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIEZF =N (26,710) (22,928) (8,519) (39,606) (4,253)
Non-controlling interests ~ FE¥EIGE RS (5,909) (11,533) (3,753) (26,905) (1,752)
(32,619) (34,461) (12,272) 66,511) (6,005)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets 1B E 89,277 112,611 192,073 193,633 398,345
Total liabilities FEN=RE (98,718) (89,828) (141,576) (133,023) (267,556)
(9,441) 22,783 50,497 60,610 130,789
Attributable to: AT ARG
Owners of the Company PAN/NETE 2 =N 11,892 39,463 64,654 69,699 112,629
Non-controlling interests ~ JE{ZE i #E 2 (21,333) (16,680) (14,157) (9,089) 18,160
(9,441) 22,783 50,497 00,610 130,789
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B RS =

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QUANTUM THINKING LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantum
Thinking Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 79 to 188, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
CAVR LR

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO THE GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared. As at 31 March
2020, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$18,723,000 and HK$9,441,000 respectively. In addition, it
incurred a net loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$26,710,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020. These conditions, along
with other matters as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business. The directors, having considered
the measures being taken by the Group as disclosed in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements, are of the opinion that the Group would
be able to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the directors have
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that
would result from a failure of achieving the measures. We consider
appropriate disclosures have been made in this respect. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019 were audited by another auditor who expressed a qualified
opinion on those statements on 14 June 2019.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B RS =

The key audit matter
BHRESEHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB ETNATEEERENSER

Revenue recognition from project-based system development contracts

Refer to note 9 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 98 to 100.

We identified revenue from project-based system development
contract as a key audit matter as it is quantitatively significant to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and there are
significant degree of management judgement exercised by the
management of the Group in determining the total outcome of
the system development projects as well as the percentage of
completion of system development and the amount of contract
revenue recognised.

As stated in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the proportion of contract
costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, revenue recognition
on contract revenue involves a significant degree of management
estimates and judgment, with estimates being made to assess
the total contract costs and stage of completion of the contracts.

The Group has recognised revenue from project-based system

development contracts of approximately HK$11,815,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2020.
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We have discussed with the project managers and the
management of the Group and checked the supporting
documents, such as system development contracts and payment
certificates to assess the reasonableness of the management'’s
estimation of the budgeted revenue and budgeted contract
costs.

We have recalculated the percentage of completion based on
accumulated actual cost incurred to date over the total budget
cost.

We assessed reliability of management’s assessment in budget
cost by considering the historical actual costs and estimation of
budget costs of completed project.



Independent Auditor’s Report
CAVR LR

The key audit matter
BEETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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The key audit matter
BHRESEHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB ETNATEEERENSER

Loss allowance on trade and other receivables

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies from pages 114 to 118.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the Group's trade
and other receivables are approximately HK$7,854,000 and
HK$ 1,407,000 respectively.

We have identified the loss allowance on trade and other
receivables as a key audit matter because the amount is
significant to the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and there is involvement of a significant degree of management’s
judgements and estimates involved in assessing the expected
credit loss ("ECL") model, based on the historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information specific to the
debtors and their economic environments.
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Our audit procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the ECL model adopted for the loss
allowance on trade and other receivables.

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used,
its development processes and relevant controls adopted by the
management of the Group in the ECL model.

We have also assessed the reasonableness of assumptions and
judgements made by the management of the Group on the ECL
model adopted, parameters selected and the internal credit
rating used. We have also examined the key data used in the ECL
model on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and
reasonableness.
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The key audit matter
BHRESEHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB ETNATEEERENSER

Valuation of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Refer to note 29 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 120 to 122.

The Group recognised financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum Technology Information Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen
Quantum”) AT & F R E B R 2 8] and its subsidiary,
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd. (“CITIC
Cyber Security’)* FYITTHEHELREABR AR The fair value
measurements require management’s estimation and significant
judgment on post-acquisition performance of the acquired
businesses and discount rates used.

Financial liabilities are remeasured at fair value at each reporting
date and may be affected by changes in the estimation of post-
acquisition performance of the acquired businesses. Any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss
account. For the year ended 31 March 2020, a gain approximately
of HK$1,792,000 was recognised in the consolidated profit and
loss account.

We have identified the valuation of financial liabilities at FVTPL as
a key audit matter because there is involvement of a significant
degree of judgements and estimates made by the management
of the Group when performing the valuation exercise judgments
in relation to the post-acquisition performance of individual
businesses and discount rates applied, which may be affected by
unexpected changes in future market or economic conditions or
significant events or circumstances related to the acquired
businesses.

The Group has engaged an independent valuer to apply
valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial
liabilities at FVTPL. These valuation techniques, in particularly
those required significant unobservable inputs, usually involve
subjective judgment and assumptions, the valuation results can
vary significantly.

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL
was nil.
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Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the
assumptions, estimations and critical judgements of the
management on the valuation of the financial liabilities at FVTPL.

We checked the calculation of fair value of other financial
liabilities prepared by management and independent valuers
against the formula stated in the investment agreement of the
acquired businesses.

We have also assessed the valuation performed by the
independent valuer. We have tested the underlying data and
assumptions used in the profit forecasts and cash flow projections
by agreeing the budgets approved by the management of the
Group and compared with actual results available up to the
report date. We have also challenged the reasonableness of the
management judgements and estimates used in the profit
forecasts and cash flow projections, including the forecasted sales
and growth rate, against latest available information. We have
also challenged the discount rate adopted by the independent
valuer in the value-in-use calculations by reviewing its basis of
calculation and comparing the input data to market sources.

We have assessed the events and circumstances emerging since
the last assessment which triggered the remeasurement of fair
value of financial liabilities at FVTPL.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’'s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group'’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B S =

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Mr. Fan Chi Hang Stephen.

Prism CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Fan Chi Hang Stephen

Practising Certificate Number: P06144

Hong Kong
12 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ—Z-_TF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EEH —NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FTET FAET
(restated)
(F&&E7))
Revenue Y= 9 26,556 12,256
Cost of sales SHE R (24,986) (8472)
Gross profit EX 1,570 3,784
Other income EABA 10 2,557 2,131
Change in fair value of financial liabilities at A EFFABZMNE/MEE
fair value through profit or loss BN EEE 1,792 9,835
Distribution costs 7 SHR AN (3,470) (6,590)
Administrative expenses THRAX (35,308) (39,253)
Impairment loss on goodwiill EENREEE - (4139)
Finance costs % & A 11 (366) -
Loss before taxation FRELATE 1B (33,225) (34,232)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FrissiiEe, (Fx) 12 606 (229)
Loss for the year FREE 13 (32,619) (34,461)
Loss for the year attributable to: RTATEEFRERS :
Owners of the Company VIN/NCIEZ PN (26,710) (22,928)
Non-controlling interests IRV = (5,909) (11,533)
(32,619) (34,461)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) b2 HE Uz (BIX)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 74 B] E ¥ > 48 2 18 45 98 H
profit of loss
Exchange differences arising on IS HmEA B EEImE L
translation of financial statements 2IEBFESAD ER%&E
from functional currency to
presentation currency 395 (1,538)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FRE M2 E W (BX)
for the year 395 (1,538)
Total comprehensive expense FREZEBAZHETE
for the year (32,224) (35,999)
Total comprehensive expense UTATEEFREZE
for the year attributable to: B e
Owners of the Company RAREEA A (27,571) (25,191)
Non-controlling interests IR AR = (4,653) (10,808)
(32,224) (35,999)
Loss per share attributable to the AAREEAELEERER
owners of the Company
Basic and diluted (HK cents) ER N 58 (AL 17 (1.97) (1.69)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR FBAORR

Asat31March2020 R=Z=TF=A=+—H
As at As at As at
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 1 April 2018
RZBE-EE RIZE—HhF RZZE—N\HF
=A=+—-H =A=+—H MmA—H
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
B 5T F#& T FHIT FHIT
(restated)
(g ES)
Non-current assets FREBEE
Plant and equipment TR K 35 1 18 6,337 5,723 987
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 19 6,440 - -
Intangible assets EEE 20 11 54 393
Goodwill EES 21 = - -
Prepayments of leasehold TEREEMFERIERIR
improvement - 279 1,267
Total non-current assets FREBEELAE 12,818 6,056 2,647
Current assets REEE
Inventories =g 22 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 NEMEWZIE 23 10,076 5338 46,208
Contract assets BHEE 24 1,193 - -
Financial assets at fair value RN EFAERD
through profit or loss TREE 25 29,035 49,204 24,365
Restricted cash ZRHRE 26 - 735 42,063
Bank balances and cash IRITEHR MRS 26 28,030 51,278 76,790
68,334 106,555 189,426
Assets classified as held for sale S ABEHENEE 30 8,125 - -
Total current assets REBEERE 76,459 106,555 189,426
Current liabilities pE =R
Trade and other payables B 5 REAM R KRIE 27 14,656 87,542 141,054
Lease liabilities HEAE 19 3,550 - -
Contract liabilities aEdaE 28 251 - -
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEEFTABZED
through profit or loss TRAEE 29 - 1,792 -
Income tax payable FERTFRSHE 21 494 522
18,478 89,828 141,576
Liabilities associated with RO BARIERERN
assets classified held for sale BEHBENEE 30 76,704 - -
Total current liabilities HWREBERE 95,182 89,828 141,576
Net current (liabilities)/assets nE (B BEEFE (18,723) 16,727 47850
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fre MR

Asat31March2020 R-ZZE-_TFE=A=+—H

As at As at As at
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 1 April 2018
R=Z=2F RZF-NF RZFT-N\F
=A=+t—-H =A=+—H mHA—H
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
B E FET FET FETT
(restated)
(=E7)
Total assets less current liabilities B EER A EE (5,905) 22,783 50,497
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 19 3,536 - -
Net (liabilities)/assets (BEFHE) EETFE (9,441) 22,783 50,497
Equity &
Share capital A& 2 32 135,625 135,625 135,625
Reserves B (123,733) (96,162) (70,971)
Equity attributable to owners RATEEAELER
of the Company 11,892 39,463 64,654
Non-controlling interests R ER (21,333) (16,680) (14,157)
Total (deficits)/equity (E#), A (9,441) 22,783 50,497

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 188 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12 June 2020 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Wang Xiaoqi
)
Director

EF

FEOEIBERAVBRREETEN_T_F
FRA+TZBHEREETZ  THTHESAR
REE

Ho Yeung
LCIp=S
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAEEEAERL
Non- Total
Share Share  Translation Accumulated controlling (deficits)/
capital  premium reserve losses Total interests equity
B4, #R
BA  ROEE RBRRE RiEE as FERER ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TER TER TER TR
At 1 April 2019, as originally RZZE-NFNA—H -
stated (audited) REZT(BER) 135,625 99,935 (4,587) (189,718) 41,255 (16,680) 24,575
Prior year adjustments (note 3)  EFE % (fizE3) - - - (1,792) (1,792) = (1,792)
At 1 April 2019, as restated RZE-NFNA—H "
(lEE5)) 135,625 99,935 (4,587) (191,510) 39,463 (16,680) 22,783
Loss for the year EREE - - - (26,710) (26,710) (5,909) (32,619)
Other comprehensive expense H 2 HEBI X
Exchange differences arising HREANEEY
on translating of financial BERZIIEE
statements from PEANELZRE
functional currency to
presentation currency - - (861) - (861) 1,256 395
Total comprehensive expense FA 2 XA
for the year - - (861) (26,710) (27,571) (4,653) (32,224)
At31 March 2020 R-B-BE=B=+-B 135625 99,935 (5448)  (218,220) 11,892 (21,333) (9,441)
At 1 April 2018 R=E—-\EMA—A 135,625 99,935 (2,324) (168,582) 064,054 (14,157) 50497
Loss for the year (restated) FREE(EE) - - - (22928) (22928) (11,533) (34461)
Other comprehensive expense H 2 HEBI X
Exchange differences arising HREANEEY
on translating financial BERZINEE
statements from PEANELZRE
functional currency to
presentation currency - - (2,263) - (2263) 725 (1,538)
Total comprehensive expense FA 2 XA
for the year - - (2,263) (22,928) (25,191) (10,808) (35,999)
Acquisition of subsidiaries ey
(note 38) (Mizx38) - - - - - 8,285 8,285
At31March 2019 (restated) R=-Z-HAE=ZA=+-H
(BE5) 135,625 99,935 (4,587) (191,510) 39463 (16,680) 22,783

82 Quantum Thinking Limited / Annual Report 2020



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meRBETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
b et 23 —T-NF
HK$’000 HKS' 000
FET FAT
(restated)
(F& &%)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Loss before taxation FRA% AT ET 18 (33,225) (34,232)
Adjustments for: NS o
Depreciation of plant and equipment ME KR EITE 2,977 2,000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEEITE 4,749 -
Amortisation of intangible assets m AR 13 13
Loss on written-off of intangible assets WEHEF EEMNEE - 326
Loss on written-off of plant and equipment MEER B M B R EIa 1,389 452
Interest income from bank deposits RITE A FILE A (138) (323)
Income from waived of lease repayment HeHEgRls (488) -
Finance costs B 7% 8 A 366 -
Investment income from financial assets REBRATFEFABENSHEE
at fair value through profit or loss KR E YA (1,076) (1,5532)
Change in fair value of financial liabilities at BEAFEGABENSRER
fair value through profit or loss HRAFEEEZS (1,792) (9,835)
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S EWFIERRIEBE = 1,684
Impairment loss on other receivables HAth e IR BEBE = 831
Impairment loss on goodwill EERHREEE = 4,139
Written-back of other payables H A fE S FRIB R ) - (85)
Operating cash flows before movements EEEACEHANKERSRE
in working capital (27,225) (36,562)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 8 5 & H b fE =R IB (32 40) 5 4> (7,058) 4,148
Increase in contract assets BHEEIE N (1,225) -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other payables ‘& 5 & E {th JEAS 78 (32 40), Rt 2 9,108 (41,542)
Increase in contract liabilities ABHIBEEM 251 -
Cash used in operations KEZEEHARIRS (26,149) (73,956)
Income tax paid BRFTSH 153 (223)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES LR AIE R FHE (25,996) (74,179)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZ=_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—EIEH —ZE-NEF
HK$’000 HKS' 000
FHET FHT
(restated)
(seE5)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETER
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through B AJZ A EFT ABRFN S REE
profit or loss (77,875) (181,350)
Purchase of plant and equipment BEME NM&E (5,126) (3,285)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BEEEAFEFABRD
at fair value through profit or loss SREERFEHIE 88,562 156,822
Investment income from financial assets KEBEATFEFABEZNEREE
at fair value through profit or loss IR E WA 1,076 1,532
Interest income from bank deposit SRITFERHEIF B U A 138 323
Prepayment of leasehold improvement i‘ﬁﬁfﬁf%%”ﬂxﬁ - (360)
Decrease in restricted cash PR IR = 38,642
Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries W B R AR &R AR
(note 38) (Fft3E38) — 29,242
Repayment from independent third parties REBIE=FTHER = 15,587
NET CASH GENERATED FROM INVESTING REZBAENREER
ACTIVITIES 6,775 57,153
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RESEE
Repayment of lease liabilities HEBEREN (2,590) -
Repayment to a director M—BESEXNHER - (2,922)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZBBAMREEE (2,590) (2922)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEEMHL FH
EQUIVALENTS (21,811) (19,948)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNRERAEEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 51,278 76,790
Bank balances and cash transferred to assets ERESBRENEEEN
held for sale BR1T iﬁ%&iﬁﬁ (230) -
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ERESHHT (1,207) (5,564)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END E!&%ﬁﬁ&iﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK (ABITHEBRRE)
BALANCES AND CASH 28,030 51,278

84 Quantum Thinking Limited / Annual Report 2020




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INAA

e MR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 8 May 2000 and its
shares were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 July 2000.

The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. Since June 2020, the address of the principal place of
business of the Company has changed to Room 1403, 14/F, Capital
Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Company is an investing holding company. Its major operating
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of system
development services and other value-added technical consultation
services and trading of hardware products.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") while that
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") are Renminbi (“RMB"). For the purpose of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HKS as
its presentation currency which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$18,723,000 and net liabilities of approximately
HK$9,441,000 respectively. In addition, it incurred a net loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$26,710,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and, therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the
assumption that the Group is able to operate as a going concern for
the foreseeable future. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group can meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months, after taking into
consideration of the measures and arrangements made by the
Group as detailed below:

(M) Happy On Holdings Limited, the immediate and the ultimate
holding Company has agreed to provide continuous finance
support to the Group to enable the Group to meet its
obligations when they fall due for the foreseeable future;

(i) the directors of the Company have been endeavoring to
improve the Group's operating results and cash flows through
various cost control measures;

(i)  the Group is expected to generate adequate cash flows to
maintain its operations;

(iv)  the directors of the Company have carried out a detailed
review of the working capital forecast of the Group for the
twelve months ending 31 March 2021, which took into
account the projected future working capital of the Group;
and

(v)  proposed disposal of 100% equity interests in China Mobile
Payment Technology Group Company Limited (“China
Mobile Payment Technology”) and its subsidiaries, Hua
Strong Network Science and Technology Limited Company
(“Hua Strong’)* 2 X 434 B A R 2 & and Beijing Huagin
World Technology Limited Company (“Beijing Huaqin”),
(collectively referred to as “China Mobile Payment
Technology Group”).

* For identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZE=Z—-F

FEZA=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the net current liabilities and net liabilities of
China Mobile Payment Technology Group were approximately
HK$50,372,000 and HK$50,339,000 respectively. The directors are of
their opinion that after the disposal, the financial position of the
China Mobile Payment Technology Group would not be
consolidated in the Group's consolidated financial statements and
the financial position of the Group would then be improved.

The directors of the Company have prepared a cash flow forecast
covering a period up to 31 March 2021 on the basis that the disposal
of 100% shareholding of the China Mobile Payment Technology
Group Company Limited would be successful, and are satisfied that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the twelve months
from 31 March 2020. Accordingly, the directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

In light of the measures and arrangements implemented to date, the
directors of the Company are of the view that the Group has
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its working capital and other
financial obligations for the next twelve months after having taken
into account of the Group's projected cash flows, current financial
resources and capital expenditure requirements with respect to the
development of its business. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company are of the view that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the directors of the Company will be able to achieve its
plans and measures as described above. Whether the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern would depend upon the
Group's ability to generate adequate financing and operating cash
flows in the near future and obtain the continuous financial support
from its substantial shareholders.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to restate the values
of assets to their estimated recoverable amounts, to provide further
liabilities that might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

mEEE (F)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

3. PRIORYEARADJUSTMENTS

The effects of prior year adjustments on the Group’s consolidated
financial position as at 31 March 2019 and the results for the year
ended 31 March 2019 are as follows:

The Group

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

FEERE
TFERABRYAEER - NEFE=HA
=T —BENGEEMBRARBE_T—NF
AT HIEFENEEELENTZEN
T

AEHE
GABEBRAMLZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019

BHE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

HK$'000
As originally Prior year
stated adjustments As restated
REZ%  LFEERE &KE7|
HK$'000 HK$'000 Notes HKS$'000
FET FH&T B aE FHET
Other income H A 9,619 (7488) (@ 2,131
Change in fair value of financial BEATERAEBR
liabilities at fair value through HeREa BN A TE
profit or loss s - 9,835 (@) 9,835
Impairment loss on goodwill B REEE - (4,139) (b) (4,139)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position HREMERRE

As at 31 March 2019
RZE—NF=ZA=+—8

As originally Prior year
stated adjustments As restated
RERY] LFEERAE E
HK$'000 HKS$'000  Notes HK$'000
FHET FHT ihg=s FHET
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Goodwill [ES - - (@b -
Current liabilities REBAE
Financial liabilities at fair value AT EG AEBZ
through profit or loss HEeRAaRE - 1,792 @) 1,792
Capital and reserve EARR#E
Reserves & (94,370) (1,792) @ (96,162)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

3.

PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Adjustments to recognise the goodwill and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss arisen from the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum and its
subsidiary, CITIC Cyber Security (collectively referred to as “Shenzhen Quantum
Group”) of approximately HK$4,139,000 and HK$11,627,000 respectively.

As disclosed in note 38, Shenzhen Quantum has entered into an investment
agreement containing certain profit guarantee arrangement (the “Profit
Guarantee”) with the non-controlling shareholder of CITIC Cyber Security before
the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum. At the end of each reporting periods, the
directors of the Company prepared a cash flow forecast of CITIC Cyber Security
and assessed the fair value of the financial liabilities arisen from the Profit
Guarantee.

When the revised fair value of the financial liabilities were determined in current
year, the directors of the Company concluded that net liabilities were assumed
in associated with the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum as at the date of
acquisition. Accordingly, a goodwill and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately nil and HK$1,792,000 was recognised as at 31
March 2019.

Adjustment to recognise the impairment loss on goodwill arisen from the
acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum

As explained in sub-paragraph (a) above, a goodwill was arisen from the
acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum. The directors of the Company became aware
of the impairment loss at the date of acquisition so that the Group fully
recognised the impairment loss of the goodwill arise from the acquisition of
approximately HK$4,139,000 during the year ended 31 March 2019.

3.
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ALK 38 PR EE - NUEERYIBFAT - RYIE
FERAPEEROIFEBRBRRET LA E TE
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R ARAEERUPEELORERETER R
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HWEERFENEMEBELETAFE ARH
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BN EX (@) DB P - R DREWERYIEF M
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"), amendments and
interpretations (“Int(s)") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA").

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(FRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

The adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases resulted in the changes in the
Group's accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements as summarised
below.

The application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
performance and position for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

4. APP

LICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

4.1

Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 Leases introduces new or amended requirements
with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant
changes to the lessee accounting by removing the distinction
between operating lease and finance lease and requiring the
recognition of right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for
lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged. Details
of these new accounting policies are described in note 5. The
Group has applied HKFRS 16 Leases retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity, where appropriate, at 1 April 2019,
Comparative information has not been restated and
continued to be reported under HKAS 17 Leases.

On transition to HKFRS 16 Leases, the Group elected to apply
the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of
which arrangements are, or contain, leases. It applied HKFRS
16 Leases only to contracts that were previously identified as
leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS
17 Leases and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore,
the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 Leases has been
applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after
1 April 2019.

The Group as lessee

On adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of HKAS 17
Leases (except for lease of low value assets and lease with
remaining lease term of twelve months or less). These liabilities
were measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019. The weighted average
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on 1 April 2019 was 4.75%.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets and measures them
at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payment — the
Group applied this approach to all leases. There is no impact
on the opening balances of equity.

4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTSTO 4. FERHIIREBITEBMEHE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HA(TEBUBHREED ] (&)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

4.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases 41 RMBEBMBREENFE 1657
(Continued) HENEE (E)
The following table summarises the impact of transition to TEREIWR—_E—NFONBE—HEER
HKFRS 16 Leases at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not EEMBHREERE 16 HERNTE o
affected by the adjustments have not been included. WRBARZZSHBLEMIAR
Carrying
amount Carrying
previously Impact on amount as
reported at adoption of restated at
31 March 2019 HKFRS 16 1 April 2019
R-ZZ—h#F
ZA=+—-H BRHEBYE R-ZB-IF
WEAE 23] wE LR MA—A/H
REE S16HENEE LEIKREE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
FHIT T FHT
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 9,112 9,112
Lease liabilities — current portion FAEB&E — BN EH - (6,344) (6,344)
Lease liabilities — MEBE —FRBED
non-current portion - (2,768) (2,768)
Note:  As at 1 April 2019, right-of-use assets were measured at an amount Mz RZZE—NEMA—RB  EHAEEERE
equal to the lease liabilities of approximately HK$9,112,000. ZRBEEAER1120008 TS B E -
4.2 Practical expedients applied 42 FRIEANEBEBERESE
On the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 Leases, the Group RERERABBYBRELERNE 1657
has used the following practical expedients permitted by the HEER AEECRAZELT
standard: KNI S ERIES A
not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease REREABHIEFTHELD
at the date of initial application. Instead, for contracts EEBREABEHEE - AR - 5t
entered into before the transition date the Group relied RiEE BRI LMEHAMmE -
on its assessment made applying HKAS 17 Leases and NEBKBHERBEZTER
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an arrangement F175HE R B (BRI %W
contains a lease. ERBLZEY) REF4RET
ZHEEESHEMELAN
fly o
the accounting for operating leases with a remaining RZE—NFOA—B#THEE
lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 April 2019 as A2 E AN THLEHEEAR
short-term leases. TIEREE -
the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement R EEXREARHNERESR
of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application. ERFIRTEEEXR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

4., APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTSTO 4.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

4.2 Practical expedients applied (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group as a
lessee is required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases
into their capital element and interest element. These
elements are classified as financing cash outflows, similar to
how leases previously classified as finance leases under HKAS
17 Leases were treated, rather than as operating cash outflows,
as was the case for operating leases under HKAS 17 Leases. The
total cash flows are unaffected. The adoption of HKFRS 16
Leases has not resulted in a significant change in presentation
of cash flows within the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Differences between operating lease commitment as at 31
March 2019, the date immediately preceding the date of initial
application, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate,
and the lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019 are as

T

ERMFI REBTEEMBRE
ATEBHBHREER ) (F&)

i

42 FFERANEEBREREES X
(&)
REEBRERERA  ARE(FRE
HA)BBEAMBEMHOHEED
RAZEY RFEEF D - ZF&D D
BRRERS R (BEAREEEE
AEREI7REESEARMEMEER
MEZHOERED)  MIEKERB R
(mEBESFENE17REERTERH
REMEZHE) - REMBBRBEART
FE - RMNBEWBREERE 1657
HEVEBYHGRARTRERANSE
ERE2INELEBREEL -

RZZE-NF=ZA=+T—H(EEEX
FERBHAER)REMEAEZ(ERE
FRBEERANEFHR) BR _F—NF
MA-HMCHREEAGBZHNE

follow: =3 N
HK$'000
FET
Operating lease commitment disclosed RZE—NF=ZA=+—HH
as at 31 March 2019 B ERL S HERE 9,992
Less: Short-term leases and other leases with B FEAHE RS THERR T T F
remaining lease term ending on or before Z A=t B ZRIERE
31 March 2020 HiEE (550)
9,442
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate {F g EE XA RITIR (330)
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFOA—AERHAEARL 9,112
Current portion mENE D 6,344
Non-current portion ERBE D 2,768
9,112
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

4., APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTSTO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs and interpretation that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material'
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform'’

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Conceptual Framework Revised Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 for Financial Reporting’

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
3 Effective date not yet been determined
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020

The directors of the Company anticipate that, the application of the

new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B IBHRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Company Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets that are
measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantages) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:

power over the investee;

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group's returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, power over the investee may be obtained through: (i) a
contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (i) rights arising
from other contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group's voting rights
and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based
on all relevant facts and circumstances.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non- controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred to effect a
business combination are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods and
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services to a customer. Specifically, the Group uses a five-step
approach to recognise revenue:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies
a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group'’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or
a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:

Sales of hardware products;

Revenue from system development and consultancy services;
and

Revenue from maintenance services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of hardware products

Revenue from sales of hardware products is recognised at a point in
time when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers.
Control of the goods is considered transferred to customers at the
time of delivery.

A receivable is recognised when the hardware products are delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

Revenue from system development and consultancy services

Revenue from system development and consultancy services were
recognised overtime.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation (Input method)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method. Input methods
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation (for example, resources
consumed, labour hours expended, or costs incurred) relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation. The Group’s efforts or inputs are expended evenly
throughout the performance period, the Group recognise revenue
on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from maintenance services

The Group enters into fixed price maintenance contracts with its
customers. Customers are required to pay in advance and the
relevant payment due dates are specified in each contract. Revenue
is recognised at a point of time based on the maintenance service
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Leasing
Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 April 2019

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16 Leases, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at
inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases
of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased assets are consumed.

EXREFTEEER (&)

SR RS
B RA TR A] & IR RECR AN 6% [ 38 <7 ER AT 4
BRFRBY A B R B UL B RR 1R 0T S ERR

RFHEAEBEELMX BRI ARE
B 42 £ BB B 745 & B (1 8 R SR AR BE A AS) 19
FEUIR AT FE G - FEENCRRIN R fERR o

HE
R-ZB-NFHUA-BRZRBEANGHHR
%

HEREZE
REFBUHHRELENF 16RHEE - HEH
RERREMRX TR -BREERNZEHIEAS
HREENEN - MZENATHEXREEH

=5 o

AL B AN
AEERGONGEFHEERENESBHE
SBEHE - AEBEREER/ABEANFRE
HEHERRAEREEEIERNEESR
& BREHEECERHEEMR12EAX
UNTHEE) MEEEENEEN - SLZE
HEMS @ AREREBANEGARERE
ENFBEERX - AR —FRIEE
FRAKFEAHEEEELENSHREER
AUBRAM

ETEHABARRA / ZZEFFERSE 101



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 April 2019
(Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. The lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or
change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using revised discount rate.

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate
or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 April 2019
(Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets below). They are depreciated over the shorter
period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Accounting policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (ie. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZE-—T-_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (ii) different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method for the
plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
below). Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimates useful lives.
The estimated reserves and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are calculated using first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of
the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
consist of bank balances and cash, as defined above.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. Such classification
requires the asset or the disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such asset or disposal group and its
sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs of disposal.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set out
in accounting policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
("CGQU") to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation can be identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set out
in accounting policy of goodwill above)
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the cost of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL") are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"), and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them.

S

ERETBEE)

TRMIA
TRHEENRERABENESEEREKAIA
BRGXZETH A - ERE M B ®REK
EE@[L\O

TREERSRABRVARTFETE I
BEPANELNEZRUGIRRISIRE
BB BMEERIE 155K G EL A LB
WEHTEREERERAGBE
BERIGENRZRARN T HERABNEMEE
e BB BENKART AR (WER) - I
B AES ARR (A FESARR]D
MEREEXTRABEREHNIZUA
BB MR R FERR ©

TREE
FIBELNERIRBARLENSREEDR
BT A REEER MR ILHER - AER TR
BALHEERANT ISR E L EPIFTRIRR
ARXNEENTREEBARLE -

FIECHRNERMEE  GTEREEND
BmE - HREEREHEKAR A FEETT
B REERNBERERR D BRBEERR
B - BRAFEFAREMEE RS
(MEAFEFAREMZEYKE ) MRAF
BEFF ABEFTE ©

BAERE  2REENIBRTEREE

m,\’jfﬁﬁmﬁ Eﬁ&$%%ﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬂéﬁgm%
BRI ME

FTRAEBRAR / —EFFERE 11



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN
%l\m/

H

V%R MRt

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using

the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

0

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses
("ECL"), through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by
discounting the estimated future cash flows, including ECL, to
the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

U]

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
the Group recognises interest income by applying the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does
not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the
financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the "Other income” line item (note 10).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically, debt
instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the
FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 8.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments in
debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The
ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B IBHRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group's
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or
the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a
financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZE-—T-_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a financial
asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past due
amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the

following criteria are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default

criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZE-—T-_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that
the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZE-—T-_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does
not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement
approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting
policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies, (2)
held for trading, or (3) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZE=Z—-F

FEZA=+—HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or
losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profits or losses
to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon
derecognition of the financial liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-for-trading, or (3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. At the end of the
subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation (if appropriate) recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except net realisable value of inventories
and value in use of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on
the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 5, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimation (see below), that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in note 2, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis and do not include any
adjustments that would be required should the Group fail to
continue as a going concern since the directors of the Company are
satisfied that the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in the
coming year after taking into the considerations as detailed in note 2.
The directors of the Company also believe that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working capital and
other financing requirements for the next twelve months from 31
March 2020.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZE-—T-_TF=A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
System development contracts revenue recognition

The Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the proportion of contract
costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated
total contract costs. Notwithstanding that the management reviews
and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs for the
system development as the contract progresses, the actual outcome
of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher
or lower than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised.

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the end of each
reporting period. Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are approximately HK$6,337,000 and
HK$6,440,000 respectively (2019: HK$5,723,000 and nil respectively).
Based on the estimated recoverable amounts, no impairment loss in
respect of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets has been
recognised in profit or loss (2019: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated useful life of plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the Company
review the estimated useful life of plant and equipment with finite
useful life. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimates of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s plant and equipment. The
residual values reflect the directors’ estimated amount that the
Group would currently obtain from disposal of the assets, after
deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The carrying amounts of plant and equipment with finite useful life
as at 31 March 2020 are HK$6,337,000 (2019: HK$5,723,000).

Allowance recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables and contract assets

The impairment provisions for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the number of days that an
individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group's historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of trade receivables, other
receivables and contract assets are approximately HK$7,854,000
(2019: HK$287,000), HKS 1,407,000 (2019: HKS$3,103,000) and
HK$1,193,000 (2019: nil) respectively, with accumulated loss
allowance on trade receivables and other receivables of
approximately nil (2019: HK$7,415,000) and nil (2019: HKS$4,206,000)
respectively. No loss allowance on contract assets have been
recognised as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

6.

B E s R A A REMN
FERR ()

At TR EEZNEERR (&)
MERRENGTEAES
REREHR  ARREBRFTEARAE
BT HRmE MR B G E A FHE - &
SrAE AT R EEEAEFERNERRN
E BRI 5% 5 ARG o8 BRAS 75 | 25 10 B RS
BEEr - RIHEERBRES (AT ALEEN
HEEE(RIREFTEEKAR) JEER
TR BNZSEECEHAERATHER
MR ERNERRR - RZ2T_FF=
A=+—R BEERAFEAFHNRE KK
HREREEESD B A6337008 T(ZZE—h
1572300078 7T) °

RESRAMERREARENEERZN
B

E 5 N E M EWGRIR AR & #) & B R R E
wBIHRBEEBEEREEERNBRREE - N
SENMERZERRMERREFERAR
IREF - AR R AR EE R YSIRN B B A
SENBERRANNBERRNAEEE
FHEL FIET - ZERRMAFTNES TR
HIHEERELEAZE  AMAEREN
FeEBRmLEM KSR FRRINRES
o

RZZE-_EF=A=+—0 BHEKX
I EMERFIEUARAENEENREED
Bl /57,854,000 7L ( =& — L4 : 287,000
PEIT) ~ 1,407,000 7T (ZZ— L4 © 3,103,000
FETC) AR 1,193,000 TT(ZE—NF : T) -
M & 5 FE USRI LA I B M JE GRIB &) R 5T ES
BEER D AEZT(ZE—LF : 7415000
BIL) RE(ZE—JLF 1 42060008 7T ) °
RZB_EFR_F-NF=A=+—8"
WEERE N EENEEBEE -

ETEHERRA / ZZEFFERSE 127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of inventories

Management reviews the condition of the inventories of the Group
and makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer suitable for sale. Management estimates
the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale. The group carries out an inventory review at the end
of each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete and slow-
moving items. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately nil (2019: nil) (net of impairment
provision of approximately nil (2019: HK$11,240,000)).

Fair value of other financial liabilities

As described in note 8, the directors of the Company use their
judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for
financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
Other financial liabilities are valued using a discounted cash flow
analysis based on assumptions supported, where possible, by
observable market prices or rates. The estimation of fair value of
other financial liabilities includes some assumptions not supported
by observable market prices or rates. The carrying amount of the
other financial liabilities as at 31 March 2020 is nil (2019:
HK$1,792,000) (restated). Details of the assumptions used are
disclosed in note 8. The directors of the Company believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate in
determining the fair value of financial liabilities.

Income taxes

As disclosed in note 31, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$33,608,000 (2019: HK$25,582,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams as at 31 March 2020. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary difference will be available in the future.
In case where the actual future generated are less than expected, a
material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in profit or loss for the year in which such a reversal take
place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. EXERER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able AEEBEEERNUBRAEB L IFEL
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to & [RIFFE B E L E S E AR AR B A T E AR
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity HHEIEHE AL - B E—FEAEK - NEFH
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior B R BE SR K AT N o
year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of trade and other AEBMEREEBIENT 27 MEENES
payables disclosed in note 27 and cash and cash equivalents NEAMFEN A - M 260 FTIEMNIR S MR
disclosed in note 26, and equity attributable to the owners of Group, CEEY  UARARFHEE AELEZ (R
comprising issued capital and reserves. FEEITRALHE) -
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RAREETHREMERERE - (EAERK
periodically. As part of the review, the directors of the Company —E o ARREBEEEARMA N HEZLE
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class ERBEANRR  TIELESTEARAE
of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group's capital MBERZEE - BIBEARREENEZ - K
structure. Based on the recommendations of the directors of the EEBEBFEREL KB NMEBEITHRGDFE
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through o HL BRBE A KRR o
use of debts, payment of dividends and issuance of new shares.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 8. £RITH
Categories of financial instruments TRIANSE
2020 2019
—ECEH —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FAET
(restated)
(F&&E7))
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REENTTENEREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BIEIRENIREEEY) 37,291 55,403
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATFEFAEEZNEREE 29,035 49,204
66,326 104,607
Financial liabilities =N
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost REERKATENAMESRAR 21,667 86,639
Financial liabilities of FVTPL RAFEFABENEREE
Designated as at FVTPL (see note 29) BEEATEFAERAZ
(RPfFFE29) - 1,792
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZE-—T-_TF=A=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments included market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
bank balances, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. USD are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
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denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as MEEMER@MEBEWLT
follows:
Assets
'E
2020 2019
“EDEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FH&T
usb ETT 67 67

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging of significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Group currently is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in USD as above. Management of the Group
considers the currency risk of the Group is insignificant for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, hence no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

8.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances and restricted cash (see note
26) carried at prevailing market rates. The Group also exposed
to fair value interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 25).
The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances is minimal due to short-term
maturities, hence, no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge all obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and other
receivables, restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents. The
carrying amounts of these balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on an collectively basis
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group has assessed
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime
rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

internal credit rating;
external credit rating;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating result
of the borrower;

significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the borrower; and

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the operating
results of the borrower.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

8.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its operation
management committee to develop and maintain the Group's credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The credit rating information is supplied by independent
rating agencies where available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group's own trading records to rate its major
customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

TRT A ()
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Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
28 it BRAMEEBENEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has 12-month ECL
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to as
Stage 1)
B4 TREENEORRENBVNGEREEERRYE 2EABBEEBER
ARG MEW BEERE(FBE 1 ER)
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
CIf~d TREENEERRBVRERENEENELRE 2HEREEEE —BEFERE
ERE(FEE 2R
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or  Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred
(refer to as Stage 3)
BY BRAE—MASHEHYHEELARRBESREAR THEHNEERE —FERE
EXERSREENTERAEEREBEEFEIER)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written-off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
g BEURRAGBHEABABRENVBRE - AMALE  FKIBRMEA
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 8. &WTIEA(HE)
Financial risk management objectives and policies cEEREEBERBEK (E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERKE(E)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) KEEE G ZERERE (&)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial THRHFAMTEESRMEENEEERARIZ
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by EERBARESAEEEENEAEER
credit risk rating grades: U g
2020 2019
—_ 7 —= i :?_jli
Internal 12-month or Gross Net Gross Net
credit lifetime carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
Notes rating ECL amount allowance amount amount  allowance amount
RIBEE 12@A%2H8
Bisr AR AHEEEE REAE BHERE EEFE KELE BEREE RE¥E
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET T FAT FHET FHET
Trade receivables 23 (Note) Lifetime ECL 7,854 - 7,854 7,702 (7,415) 287
(simplified
approach)
B SR (PRt 5E) SHIEHEERR
(FE1E%)
Other receivables 23 Performing  12-month ECL 874 - 874 1,938 - 1,938
ot e 508 B4 REAEHEER
B
Other receivables 23 Doubtful Lifetime ECL — not - - - 4,206 (4,206) -
credit impaired
H el soa AlRE 2 HEBEEEE
—EEERE

Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors,
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future
economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is
presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note
23 includes further details on the loss allowance for these assets respectively.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets at FVTPL as
disclosed in note 25 best represent their respective maximum
exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over any of
these balances.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 49% (2019: 100%) and
969% (2019: 100%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest external customer and the top five largest external
customers respectively as at 31 March 2020.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay.

8.

T A (&)
SREREEERREE (H)

FERRE ()

REEB MM EE 25 P ER A FER ABEH
CREERDEERERREZENESE
B R\ AR o AR B L] b SRS
BEAm -

Eé_g_gi A=+—H BREZEY

FRIBLAZEL) 49% ( ZZF — L4 1 100%) % 96%
:%?—hi 1 100%) 7 Bl 2K B A B iR AR
INEBEP RARINBER  HAEBBEF
EERR -

EEBRDESARTE  AEEERRS
MR EEY Wi /\?‘H—rﬁ BEEERRRE
RN AEEERNE  WRERESRER
B BHIKF o

TRHAJAEEFRNTECRABENEERE
E’Jﬁ‘?Tm,\’leHHE! c RERENIRBALEHE

BREHERNRNEZF AR RB AR
Iﬁiﬁi/}m%ﬁ% °
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+—AILERE

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flow. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of each reporting

8. $RITH(E)
tREREEEERBE (&)

RBESRR (#)
TERHEANERASRESRE - HABRE
RFEME - ARBR S RIRE RS RN
MR AR DTS -

period.
At 31 March 2020
RZBZBF=A=+-H

More than More than Total

Within one 1 year but 2 years but contractual
year or less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2years 5 years cash flows amount

—ERH BB-F BBmME BRRER
REX BLRME BIREFE RERELH REE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET THER TET
Trade and other payables B REMERTE 14,581 - - 14,581 14,581
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,813 2,933 713 7,459 7,086
18,394 2,933 713 22,040 21,667

At 31 March 2019
RZE—NF=ZA=+—H

Total contractual

undiscounted

cash flows
due on
demand or Carrying
within one year amount
RERH—FR
FHIME L
REEER
REeRmERTE AREE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade and other payables B 5 MEMENFRIE 86,639 86,639
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAFEFAEENSRERE 1,792 1,792
88,431 88,431
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 8. SWMIAGE)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AFEFEEEREE
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that TREHENEREARZATEFENS
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, BT ESH - WhRIEBEARERN S TR
grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree NP EEREEREAE E=-ERFE
to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s [E 4 -
accounting policy.
At 31 March 2020
R=ZB-FF=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—E -l E=[E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THxT TR FTET
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFEFABEEZHN
SREE
— Wealth management products — I BIE f - 29,035 - 29,035
At 31 March 2019
RZZE-NF=HA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E EF_IE F=IE HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FAET
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFEFABREN
cREE
— Wealth management products  — JB 81 & & - 49,204 - 49,204
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BOAVEFTAREN
cRasE
— Financial liabilities arising — R HRFIRE
in relation to the provision EAfaa
of the Profit Guarantee afE - - 1,792 1,792
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in the RERMBEFE R VEER 2 HEILES
current and prior years. B o
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 8. @I A(E)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AV EFEBERBEK (#&)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at AEERBELEHEER AT ETENEH
fair value on a recurring basis EENAYE
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value BELSERESESRITANQAFLER
measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring basis are BT AR E R N ABUEEH ST

set out below:

Fair value as at 31 March

RZA=+T-BNATE

Relationship of
key inputs and
Valuation Significant significant
Fair value technique and unobservable unobservable
2020 2019 hierarchy key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
BRBABBH
HESER EXTUEER DHENEXRTA
it ot 23 ZE-RE DATVEER BREEABE BAHE BEBABBNEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn

Financial assets at FVTPL

BATESARRNEREE

— Wealth management products 29,035 49204 Level2 Quoted rate of retumn N/A N/A

by issuing bank

—BHES A BARANEREEE  TER TR

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

BRATESAERNEREE

— Financial liabilities arising - 1792 Level3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate of 1.96%  The higher the discount

in relation to the provision of model based on (2019: 2.74%) rate, the lower
the Profit Guarantee discount rate and the value (note i)
future cash flow

—HEREENREEL E] ERERERAR R 1.96% FHEEs -

NERak REMEMELR (ZB-NEF 274%) BEBEFT)
ReRBRE

Note: MisE -

0] If the discount rate to the valuation model were 10 basis point higher/lower (i) T EERNBEIE R FF T I10EED - AT
while all the other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the EHMEBEESTE  BRIEHSIEIEEYN
financial liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the Profit Guarantee SRBENETDEBZESERLY EN(ZE—A
would decrease/increase by nil (2019: nil). FORERMDEM)
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 8.

Fair value measurement objective and policies
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

QEQIE;(?E)
FEERBREMEERAFEFAENSR
2800 2 1 (80

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial BEKEEREESHEBEE =AY ET=
liabilities on recurring basis: FEER
Financial
liabilities arising
in relation to
the provision
of the
Profit Guarantee Total
PR AER
REEED
cREas st
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FMA—H - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) W b B 2 7] (PH3E 38) 11,627 11,627
Change in fair value credited to profit or loss E#ATEEE’\]’AEHE@ (9,835) (9,835)
At 31 March 2019 E-NE=A=+—H 1,792 1,792
Change in fair value credited to profit or loss ;.H\Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ'] NTHES (1,792) (1,792)
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-ZTF=H=+—H - -
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RRAREERAE ARGV HHREFERA

current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values due to their immediate or
short-term maturities.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
the other non-current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

BERFRRIZEHRAAEN RS ERAE
BIEF s A AN R H - A RE(EEAE AT
BHEE

ARBEFAR  NEAMBHRRPERE
R R AR AR R IR S 2R
BEMNREEEEZEQAAEEMRS -
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9. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 9.

Revenue represents revenue arising from system development
service, consultancy service, maintenance and other services and
sales of hardware products. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for
the year is as follows:

WERkoEHER

WantE R B ZAMAERIRT - FHAIR - B
NEAMMRB MHER M EMO NS - XEE
FABmODHOT

2020 2019
—EBEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers BREAMEWELEINE 155%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANRK AR AR
Disaggregated by major products REZEMSF
—  Services —  BR%
System development R 11,815 8,420
Consultancy b 698 3,310
Maintenance and others M N E A 123 278
—  Sales of hardware — %/Eﬁiﬁ- 13,920 248
26,556 12,256
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group's revenue from TXEINAREEBBRAEBYBERELERZFE 15
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15: SEEERNKEETES NN
Sales of
Services hardware Total
PR %% SHEBH st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE_-Z_-Zf
=SA=+—-HLEFE FHET F#ET FET
Timing of revenue recognition TSR U 25 HY B ]
At a pointin time RNE 2 - 13,920 13,920
Over time B B ] 12,636 - 12,636
12,636 13,920 26,556
Sales of
Services hardware Total
AR 7% SHERE 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE2—_ZT—NF
—A=+—HLtFE FHET FHET FAET
Timing of revenue recognition T TR UL &5 HY B 1S
Ata point in time NE— R 2h - 248 248
Over time ¥ B [ 12,008 - 12,008
12,008 248 12,256
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZE=Z—-F

FEA=+—HIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. W:EKkoHMEHR(F)
(Continued)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining TEHREHRTEIEEINXZER
performance obligations
As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of transaction price RZEBE-EF=A=+—"08 2EBEZHEKE
allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or 17 (BB HMAREIT) BHEETNR S EIREA
partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$9,634,000 (2019: B8 /499,634,000 7T (ZZ—J1L4F © 1,098,000
HK$1,098,000). The amount represents revenue expected to be Bor) c B EIETEHN AR B SRR
recognised in the future from software development contracts. The BRERBIWE o AEE KRN TR RIS (T8
Group will recognise this revenue as the service is completed, which iR —E RERNELE) ERZIBINES -
is expected to occur within one to five years.
Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the HERDBE L EDMBRBFMARNR A ES
chief operating decision maker (the "CODM"), for the purpose of (BIXEgerEE((TELERRE])Z
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses WEER - SPRFTIRERGAER - K
on types of services provided. No operating segments identified by BASENAIZERO S SHEEE T 20E
the CODM has been aggregated in arriving at the reportable RERE BRI E D
segments of the Group.
Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows: THE  AEBEHAIZ2|HEOT
—  System development, consultancy, maintenance and other — R EERHEMRS
services; and K
—  Sales of hardware products. — HEWHESR-
Segment revenues and results DE R R FEE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by LT RIZRIERD A REEDFE DRI ERE
reportable and operating segment. Bz &%ﬁ’\*ﬁ
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-Z-ZHF=A=+—HLEFE
Sales of
Services hardware Total
PR HEE S et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Segment revenue PaR= g 12,636 13,920 26,556
Segment loss 7 EbE R (8,737) (3,376) (12,113)
Change in fair value of financial BRATEET ABRR
liabilities at fair value through CRIBEMNATEE
profit or loss 1,792 - 1,792
Unallocated income Ao B WA 2,557
Unallocated corporate expenses Ao EERE (25,461)
Loss before taxation R AT S 18 (33,225)
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9., REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 9.
(Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (restated)

Wz K o &R & #t (4)

DEBN S I A (1)
BE-E-NE=A=1+—HLEE(KE
5l)

Sales of
Services hardware Total
BR 75 SHEBF #ast
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
FHIT FHT FHIT
Segment revenue 7 HW = 12,008 248 12,256
Segment loss o EEE (13,118) m (13,119
Change in fair value of financial WA E ABEH
liabilities at fair value through SRBENATEEZD
profit or loss 9,835 - 9,835
Unallocated income R ELHA 2,131
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EERE (33,079)
Loss before taxation FRA AT BT 18 (34,232)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group's accounting policies described in note 5. Segment loss
represents the loss of each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, directors’ emoluments and other income. This
is the measure reported to the directors of the Company with
respect to the resource allocation and performance assessment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. W:EKkoHMEHR(F)
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities PHWEERAE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by INTRIZAIZMD BRGEDHE D HRE
reportable and operating segment: EEENIBENST
Segment assets THEE
As at As at
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
R=Z2=-FF R-F-NF
=A=+t—H =A=t—H~
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAT
(restated)
(Fe=E%))
Services AR5 11,323 2,230
Sales of hardware THE (T 7,475 357
Total segment assets NHEELRE 18,798 2,587
Assets relating to disposal group HNEEBEENEE 8,125 -
Corporate and other assets ERHEMEE 62,354 110,024
Total assets BEE 89,277 112,611
Segment liabilities PMERE
As at As at
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
R-ZB-2F R-_T-NF
=A=+t—H =A=t1—H
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAT
(restated)
(Fe=%1))
Services AR 7 6,752 -
Sales of hardware SHEREM 6,743 59,793
Total segment liabilities DB ERERE 13,495 59,793
Liabilities relating to disposal group HEYEEEFHNAE 76,704 -
Corporate and other liabilities tEREMEE 8,519 30,035
Total liabilities waf 98,718 89,828
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

9. REV

ENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

All assets are allocated to operating segment, other than
intangible assets, goodwill, prepayment of leasehold
improvement, unallocated deposits, prepayments and other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
restricted cash, bank balances and cash and other corporate
assets. Assets used jointly by reportable segments are
allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual
reportable segments; and

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other than
unallocated other payables and accruals, income tax payable,
lease liabilities and other corporate liabilities. Liabilities for
which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated in
proportion to segment liabilities.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #ZEZ=—_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2020

9. WERDHBER (&)

HihpHER
BE-_Z-_ZHF=A=1+—HLEE
Sales of
Services hardware Unallocated Total
PR 7% SHEEH R ER st

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET

Amounts include in the
measure of segment
profit or segment assets:

Addition to non-current assets
(Note)
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on written-off of
plant and equipment

Amounts regularly provided to
the chief operating decision
maker but not included in the
measure of segment profit or
loss or segment assets:

Interest income
Finance costs
Income tax credit

E—%T:l‘B/ﬁn*Ujr\*

BERFT ARRIA

NEIERBEE (KI5E)

FrE R #H
MRS MR VB 18

EHmE 2L RRE
?L_EF{ tHEF E.-/]_]\ﬁlqg/\
T”*Bﬁ@ﬁﬂ[ﬂ
T ABIEIR

M BHA
MisER
FTiSHii %

8,712 3,420 2,560 14,692

3,527 1,394 2,818 7,739
= = 1,389 1,389
= = (138) (138)
= = 366 366
- - (606) (606)
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9. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. WmkoEBER (F)

(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued) Hih 7 HEHR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (restated) BE-ZE-hWF=A=+—HLFE(KE

51)
Sales of
Services hardware  Unallocated Total
AR7 SHEMEM RAEE BET

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000

TATT TET TET TET

Amounts include in the E’ﬁ‘:ﬂg/ﬁnﬂ?’\‘
measure of segment BERFT AR FKIE
profit or segment assets:

Addition to non-current assets NBEIETBEE (M)

(Note) 360 - 4,192 4552
Depreciation and amortisation WE R 1,716 98 199 2,013
Loss allowance on trade H 5 WA B ERE

receivables 61 1,623 - 1,684
Loss allowance on other H b e WA B IR

receivables - - 831 831
Loss on written off of s = L EERNEE

plant and equipment - - 452 452
Loss on written off of intangible iS5 E & E R ETE

assets - - 326 326
Impairment loss on goodwill EE AR EE R 4139 - - 4,139

Amounts regularly provided to ;EHHI"?I;(&%/?%EE%

the chief operating decision RHEFEHHBIERK
maker but not included in the DELE ER I ERT AR
measure of segment profit or FKIA -

loss or segment assets:

Interest income B A - - (323) (323)

Income tax expense Frisfif s - - 229 229

Note: Non-current assets included plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and Wi : BEZT-ZF=RA=1+—HLLFE  FEHE
intangible assets for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: plant and equipment EREBRELSZE FREEEREREE(Z
and intangible assets). T-NEF: BERRBAREVEE) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=ZF-_TF=A=+—HILFE

9., REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group's
operations are mainly located in the PRC.

Substantially all of the Group's operation are in the PRC, no
geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

Wz K o &R & #t (4)

i EE R
HE_Z-_ZFR-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—H
IHFE AEENZEEBMUNFTE -

REBBAILD LEMR A2 5
HEEF

FRTEEZFNEH
5% 9 3R 7 4F [ /3 7N 52 08 i 5 B8R 1096 A
ERRPURET :

2020 2019

—ECEF —T-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Company A’ NCIPY 9,934 N/A N3 A
Company B2 NCIES 7,320 N/A P E A
Company C' /NClld 3,374 N/A N3 A
Company D? A& D? N/A RiE A3 5,396
Company E2 NGNS N/A REF3 3310
Company F? NGNS N/A RER3 2436

! Revenue from sales of hardware segment.
? Revenue from services segment.

? The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of
the Group.

' Wi R B SHER DR -
2 W ok 8 AR5 0 &E o

: BRI E AR EEGREEER10% A L o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

10. OTHER INCOME 10. HMA
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET
(restated)
(&&E5))
Interest income from bank deposits RITFFE M EMA 138 323
Investment income from financial EEZAFEGTAEBRN
assets designated as at FVTPL TRMEAENRERA 1,076 1,532
Income from waived of lease repayment HMEeHEETMBA 488 -
Government grants (note) BT 7 B (B 5E) 281 -
Others H 574 276
2,557 2,131
Note: The amount represented government grants received from the PRC local MisE « Z A AP E T BT AR MRS BRI
government authorities in respect of subsidising the Group’s scientific and REEFEH MDA BAHE - ARAEBRFE
technological and operating activities, which were immediately recognised as FIEHERR HIR%E - MEZRANKERZREN
other income for the year as the Group fulfilled all the relevant granting criteria. EHAUA ©
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. B%ER
2020 2019
i —T-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET FET
Interests on lease liabilities HEaBENFE 366 -
12. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSES) 12, FiBBiER (B%)
2020 2019
—EDEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Current tax; BIHARR IR -
PRC Enterprises Income Tax (“EIT") RS ([EER]) - (50)
Over/(under)-provision in prior years: BEFEBRERE(BETR)
PRCEIT PR EATER 606 (179)
606 (229)
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZE-—T_TF=A=+—HIFE

2. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSES) (Continued)

Notes:

(@ No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the year ended 31 March 2020
and 2019 as the Company did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong
Kong Profits Tax.

(b) Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is
25% for both years.

The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the loss before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

12. FIEBE R (BIx%) (#)

BiaE -

(@ BE_ZT_ZTFR-ZF-NF=A=+—HLF
Flﬁﬁk?%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ RE /AR BIL &
EARBH BB FISHRERTOE T

(b) $ETFEPI¢¥FJ’T/ s ([REMBBUE]D R
BREERIES - RZMEFE @ FEHEA
TE’J%R%%E%

PR A B M A M2 E RS R
BT ATEIBE RN ¢

2020 2019
—EZH —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
Loss before taxation bR AT E R (33,225) (34,232)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% AR PTIS TR L R 16.5%
(2019: 16.5%) ZE—NF - 16.5%) BT HY
I (5,482) (5,648)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR AT OB S 2
for tax purposes 92 3,565
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes 78 sr iU A B R 15 =2 & (560) (2,459)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FERBIERENR ST E 8,066 6,836
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised Eh 3 48 1 Ak FE32 8 5 18 fE5 18 (40) (116)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REAMBEEREE E!’] ii5g=S
operating in other jurisdictions NATRAMENZE (2,076) (2128)
(Oven)/under-provision in prior years BEEE GBRERE) BETR (606) 179
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FERNFEHRER) FX (606) 229

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 31.

EERERBROFBHRIES -
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150 Quantum Thinking Limited / Annual Report 2020

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13. FREIE
2020 2019
—EEH —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Loss for the year has been arrived at after FREIE TR (5EA) TF
charging/(crediting): BIARES
Directors' and chief executive’s emoluments EEREBTHRAEHH
(note 14) (K5t 14) 1,686 1,810
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits %frﬁ TE&  EENEMETR 14,476 13,792
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme ﬁ(ﬁa MErBER(TBIEES -
(excluding directors’, chief executive’s and ZITBABRESZHMH)
supervisors’ emoluments) 780 1,007
Total staff costs B T 48%8 16,942 16,609
Auditor's remuneration IZEEN N & 795 492
Depreciation of plant and equipment R N R T E 2,977 2,000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 4,749 -
Amortisation of intangible assets EREEESHE 13 13
Loss allowance on trade receivables 2 SR IA R E R R = 1,684
Loss allowance on other receivables Hoqth fE R IE R BT B R - 831
Loss on written-off of plant and equipment Wﬁé}l’r‘?ﬁ%& SR EE 1,389 452
Loss on written-off of intangible assets MEEm A ENEBE = 326
Impairment loss on goodwill P ERREEE = 4,139
Amount of inventories recognised as an expense FER AR X NIFE S5 13,137 225
Operating lease charges in respect of HEMENCERERS
rented premises 323 4,983
Net exchange loss/(gain) P& B (Was) F5E 193 (138)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERFETHRAEHH
EMOLUMENTS
Details of directors’ and chief executive's emoluments are as follows: BEERTBITHRABHFIOFBOT :

Emoluments paid or receivable FiZ A TEEEE RN T
in respect of a persons services HEKBATANEREH

in connection with the ENER T RUMRE T Employer's
management of the affairs of XA LWHFMIZA Salaries,  contributions
the Company or its subsidiary £ ] 5 5% % IR % 1 WER A9 allowances and to retirement
undertaking: M Fees other benefits benefits scheme Total
Fe EHER EEXoERER
ik Hi @ Fl T B st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TERT TET
Yearended 31 March2020 HBE-ZT-FHF
ZA=t-BLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Yeung (note i) EEFAA(E) - 650 18 668
Mr. Wang Xiaogi (note i) FrEm A () - 580 18 598
Independent non-executive BUHNITEE
directors
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WETEE 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony MFEELE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee (note i) EREL A (M) 120 = = 120
Total &5 420 1,230 36 1,686
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a persons services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking:

14. EERTETHAESHN(E)

RZATHEREEARFLEMBLARNE
BABENER T RENREM I AZAL
H 37 B 3K 5% A 2 AT L % S AR % T W ER A Fr
B

Employer's
Salaries, contributions

allowances and to retirement

Fees other benefits benefits scheme Total
& 2HE BEXRERKEF
we HAiEH RELESH e
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-E-hE
ZA=+-ALEE
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Ho Yeung (note i) Al 5o 4 (FEE D) - 650 18 668
Mr. Wang Xiaogi (note ) TR LA (i) - 695 27 722
Independent non-executive BUINITEE
directors
Ms. Chan Nga Man (note iii) PR HESE 2+ (Pf EE i) 1 - - 1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki mRFEE 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony L E 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee (note i) BEELAE (M) 119 - - 119
Total Bt 420 1345 45 1810
Notes: MI5E -

(i) The remuneration includes remuneration received from the Group by the
director in his capacity as an employee of the subsidiaries.

(ii) Appointed on 3 April 2018.

(iii) Resigned on 3 April 2018.

No chief executive was appointed during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

No directors and chief executive of the Company waived or agreed
to waive the emolument paid by the Group during the years ended
31 March 2020 and 2019. No emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors as an inducement for joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years end of the Company
31 March 2020 and 2019.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

15. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

15. {E S %

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2019: two) TEESHALTH ME(ZZE—NF: MW
were directors of the Company whose emoluments are set out in B)BARRRESE  BEMNFTNE LK T
note 14. The emoluments of the remaining three (2019: three) 4B IN=Z2(ZF—NF: =RB)5aHA
highest paid individuals were as follows: THFBIT
2020 2019
—EIEH —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits 4 ~ T& - 3285 & H 18 7 2,227 2,643
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme  iR4REFEH 27X 49 52
2,276 2,695

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BERM T FLATERE

Number of individuals

A
2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 21,000,000 7T 3 2

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

16. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
of the reporting period.

1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 78 7T - 1

RBE-_T_ZFR-_FT-NF=-A=1—
Eii& $%l1?ﬁiﬁ£%¢ﬁ$ﬁAiSﬁ
N AEART BN S 1 70 h0 BE 75 55 [ O 22 B S 1 /R B
Bia(E

16. B2

BE_T-_TER-
Ltﬁfﬁ%ﬁ/ﬁﬁjzﬁ_aﬁﬁﬁﬂx =)
HIREE B R IR N AR

—hF=ZA=+—H
- BE®mE
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to
the owners of the Company is based on the following:

17. BREE

ARRERARGESREAMEEERE

RATBURETE

2020 2019
—EDEF —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FH&T
(restated)
(F&=5))
Loss B8
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted loss Azt EGIREAR K EEEN
per share, representing loss for the year 518 - BIAR RGBS AEG
attributable to owners of the Company FREE (26,710) (22,928)
2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NF
Number of shares BROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &8 & J& B A8 K 58 55 1R 5
for the purpose of basic and diluted PR E R I T 5 8
loss per share (‘000 shares) (FH) 1,356,250 1,356,250
The dilutive earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per HE T ZFEN_FE—-NE=H=+—H
share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding IFEE AR ER TR GBS T iEm
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. B% e RS SR BEATRERET -
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZE-—T_TF=A=+—HIFE

18. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. MERFZE

Leasehold Plantand Furniture Motor Office
improvements machinery and fixtures vehicle equipment Total
BRREE

HENELE T $£E AE WORE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET THT TET TET TET

CosT B

At 1 April 2018 R-E-N\F

MA-B 3457 088 712 - 264 5,521

Additions KB 4283 208 7 - 54 4552

Written-off s (3237) - - - - (3237)
Acquisition of subsidiaries  YREEHTEB 1 ]

(note 38) (Fi5E38) 2,534 367 443 - - 3,344
Exchange alignment [ % (254) (7) (48) - o) (313)
At31March 2019 and RZE-hE

1 April 2019 =A=+-8kK

—E-hEWA-H 6,783 1,656 1,114 = 314 9,867
Additions RE 4,298 366 = 74 - 5,405
Written-off s (2,549) = = = = (2,549)
Reclassified asheld forsale  EFAEABELE

(note 30) (Fi3E30) - - (111) - (55) (166)
Exchange alignment I 5 % (487) (53) (68) (19) (4) (631)
At 31 March 2020 R-B-ZF

=A=+-AH 8,045 1,969 935 722 255 11,926
DEPRECIATION AND HERFE

IMPAIRMENT
At 1April 2018 R-ZZ-NENA-A 2,974 861 463 - 236 4534
Charge for the year FAZH 1536 239 194 - 31 2,000
Written-off bz (2,785) - - - - (2,785)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B AR

(note 38) (FizE38) 494 77 43 - - 614
Exchange alignment B3 A% (185) ) (26) - ) (219
At 31 March 2019 and RZE-NE

1April 2019 ZA=t-HkK

“E-AHFMA-A 2,034 1,174 674 - 262 4,144
Charge for the year FRZH 2,519 208 132 9% 22 2,977
Written-off b6 (1,160) - - - = (1,160)
Reclassified as held for sales B A AIIEHE

(note 30) (Fi5E30) - - (73) - (60) (133)
Exchange alignment R (168) (21) (44) () (4) (239)
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-ZF

=ZA=+-AH 3,225 1,361 689 94 220 5,589
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-EfF
=ZA=+-AH 4,820 608 246 628 35 6,337
At31March 2019 R-E-IE
=A=1+-H 4,749 482 440 - 52 5723
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZ=_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

18. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 18. BE KR &E (&)
Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over BB K R L B AR AR EHE A F HRE T I
their estimated useful lives as follows: E BT
Leasehold improvements Over the lease term HEMEERE HHEEHR
Plant and machinery 20% to 50% TR R 2 20% % 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 25% RRLEERE 20% 2= 25%
Motor vehicle 20% RE 20%
Office equipment 20% NS 20%

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 19. AR SEREESERE

(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FAEEE
At 31 March At 1 April
2020 2019
EA— - ﬂi J‘J_/\\\:g_hﬁz
=R=+—H mA—H
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FAET
Buildings BF 6,440 9112
The Group has lease arrangements for office buildings and REBHBAEFRYEITBEHER
premises with the lease terms of generally ranged from 2 to 3 B HEBH—MNTF2E=3F -
years.
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 BHEZ-TF=-A=-+—HLFE
March 2020 amounted to approximately HK$9,287,000 due to HRFHEEF WHABETRAEEE
new leases of buildings. 499,287,000/ 7T ©
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of (E_T_TE=A=T—HIFE
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$6,690,000 was R ITEB XTI Y EER
derecognised due to the termination of lease agreement 2ORIIERFEAEEENERAEY
entered into with an independent landlord. 6,690,000/ 7T °
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

19. EHEEEREERE(H)

(Continued)
(ii) Lease liabilities (Continued) (i) HEESE (&)

At 31 March At 1 April
2020 2019
R=—Z=-T& RNZT-IF
=H=+—H mH—H
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHEIT
Non-current FERH 3,536 2,768
Current mE 3,550 6,344
7,086 9,112
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEBBEBETHENKIE 31 March
2020
—EEFE
=BA=+—H
HK$’000
FET
Within one year —%FR 3,550
After one year but within two years —FEERFA 2,828
After two years but within five years MEEREBRFA 708
7,086

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months B0 P 1248 A B BRI MR
(shown under current liabilities) (ﬁlJﬁéfﬁ@JE%ﬁ—F) (3,550)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A2 BIER &S 3R 3,536

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered into
two lease agreements in respect of renting properties and
recognised lease liabilities of approximately HK$9,287,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities of approximately HK$6,786,000 was
derecognised due to the termination of lease agreement

entered into with an independent landlord.

HE—

—TE-ZA=THLFE-

Wil&’ﬁm@ YIEFT MDA ERE
WHERHE & &499,287,000/8 T °

HE—

T_TE-A=1t—HLFE "

RARIEEBYEEMIYNEER
FOERKIENHESENREEY
6,786,000 78 JT °

DHEABRR
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(Continued)
(iii) Amount recognised in profit or loss

19. FREEEREESE (B)
(i) RIEJPERINESHE

Year ended

31 March 2020
BE
—E-FF
=A=+-—H
LFE
HK$’000
THET

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Interests on lease liabilities

Income from waived of lease repayment
Expense relating to short-term leases

(iv) Others

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total cash outflow

for lease amount to HK$2,590,000.

At 31 March 2020, no lease agreement not yet commenced is

committed by the Group.
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FRABEEINE 4,749
HEABENFE 366
Mo EERMHERA (488)
ERRBAENAY 323

(iv) Hfb
HE-_Z-_ZHE=A=+—HItFE
FAERIRE 7 H 4858 52,590,000/ 7T °

R-ZB-_TF=A=+—H Xx&E
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BEEE
Development Trademark
cost costs Total
B A BER AR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FTHET FET
(notei)
(My=Ei)
cosT B
At 1 April 2018 RZE—-NFMNA—H 387 10 397
Write-off o (326) - (326)
At 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 R=ZE—-HAE=A=+—-H
and 31 March 2020 “E-hEFNA-HE
—E-TH=A=+—H 61 10 71
AMORTISATION ey
1 April 2018 RZE—-NFMNA—H - 4 4
Charge for the year FAXMH 12 1 13
At 31 March 2019 and RZZE-NF=ZA=+—HRK
1 April 2019 —E-NFMA—AH 12 5 17
Charge for the year FAZH 12 1 13
At 31 March 2020 R-BE-ZEF=A=+—H 24 6 30
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-ZEF=A=+—H 37 4 a1
At 31 March 2019 R=Z-NF=ZA=+—H 49 5 54
Note: BT
(i) Development costs mainly include online network systems and video software {i) HBEAATERREG FHRK ARG R RSN
development costs. A written-off of approximately HK$326,000 was recognised ?éﬁjZZIS BE-_ZT-NFE=A=+—HILEED
for the year ended 31 March 2019 since part of the online network systems and Wﬁ;ﬁ] NI #9326,00078 7T © JhERE DR 48
video software was obsolete without alternative use. No amortisation was ,%’é? st BETESRAR AR
provided as these intangible assets were not available for use as at 1 April 2018. T \FHUA-—BZEEFAEC T #E

B BN A L SR

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible rtiEPEEAERRFERTH - GSRAEHR
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated BERESFINEMHERFEHARED - ai
useful lives as follows: I=RONNE

Development costs 5 years I PN 5%

Trademark costs 10 years [EEEID %N 104
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21. GOODWILL 21. B8
HKS$'000
FHBT
COST R
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\FMHA—AH -

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38, restated)  UXBEMT B A RIEAE (MIFE38 &£ EF) 4,139

At 31 March 2019 (restated), 1 April 2019 (restated) R=—Z—HAE=A=+—H (KE5|) -
and 31 March 2020 ZE-NFHEA-RB(REI)R

—E-EE=A=+—H 4,139
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES R REEE
At 1 April 2018 R-ZFE—-NFHEOA—H -
Impairment loss recognised during the year FRERRERSE 4,139

At 31 March 2019 (restated), 1 April 2019 (restated) R—ZE—HE=A=+—H0 (KEF) -
and 31 March 2020 —E-AFHEHA-B(REY)R
—E-EBE=A=+—H 4,139
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZEF=HA=+—H -

At 31 March 2019 (restated) RESE-NAE=ZA=+—RH(KE) -

Goodwill is arising from the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum
during the year ended 31 March 2019 and has been allocated to the
one CGU of the Group, which is included in the services business.

Upon completion of the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum, the
directors of the Company have engaged an independent firm of
valuers, Royson Valuation Advisory Limited, to carry out a valuation
of the CGU that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, based on facts and circumstances existing as at the
date of acquisition.

The directors became aware of the impairment loss at the date of
acquisition of the Shenzhen Quantum so that the Group fully
recognised the impairment loss of the goodwill arisen from the
acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum of approximately HK$4,139,000
during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZE=Z_-F

FEA=+—HIEFE

GOODWILL (Continued) 21. BE (&)
CGU — Services (Shenzhen Quantum Group) REeEEAXEN —RECRIEFER)
The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based on ZREeEABEMNANE£EEIREERE
value-in-use calculation, which uses cash flow projections based on BETEMET  MEAEEDERAQREE
financial budgets approved by the management of the Company B EMNPKEENIIR e REBAE - A
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period R ISTEE M E R FHIR - BB A FEREA
are extrapolated using the estimated weighted average growth rate WEW E{EFHE%Eﬁ%?ﬁiﬁhﬁnﬂﬂ%?i’j
of 3% (2019: 3%) for the CGU. BRE3N(ZE—NEF : 3%)#H -
The estimated weighted average growth rates are consistent with et hotE Lg% & R B 1T 23R & Pl Ay T8 8
the forecast included in industry reports. The growth rates used do — o FHNEERT INBERESEASEN
not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the business in RBEIOEETHIRER - IS REFH
which the cash-generating unit operates. The cash flows are TATELIR K 269% (ZZ— LA © 35.5%) BLIR
discounted using pre-tax discount rate of 26% (2019: 35.5%). Key ﬁﬁﬁ”‘ﬁﬁﬁfﬁ@uﬁ‘ﬁmiﬁfﬁ]“ﬁ% C EH
assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are the revenue, RNEER EEEREBTIRRANMETS
gross margins and growth rates. Management determined the HREHETEENKZE  EMREGIEER -
budgeted revenue, gross margins and growth rates based on past
performance and its expectation for market development.
INVENTORIES 22. 7€
2020 2019
— 7 — ﬂi 7%35
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finished goods BIRK oh = -
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's inventories were He "S- TSH-_A=-+—HItEE K&

written off of approximately HK$11,240,000.

As 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of the Group's inventories
were net of impairment provisions of approximately nil (2019:
HK$11,240,000).

B E ST 11,240,000 7T ©

R_EBE-_TF=A=+—8 xEEHFE
FREECHRBRAEREBOS (22— hi-
11,240,000/ 7C) °
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZ=_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. E5 R HEMEWKIE

2020 2019
it et 32 —T-hF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHT

Receivables at amortised cost comprise: RSP AN ET B B IR IGRIE BT
— Trade receivables — B S EUGRIE 7,854 7,702
Less: loss allowance for trade receivables BB S RIREIAR BB - (7/415)
7,854 287
Deposits b 533 1,165
Prepayments T FRIE 815 1,948
Other receivables (notes i, ii and iii) H Ao pEUCERIE (5T~ i Biii) 874 6,144
10,076 9,544

Less: loss allowance for other receivables R H AU GRIB R B iE R R

(note ii and iii) (WEH&M) - (4,206)
10,076 5,338

As at 31 March 2020, the gross amount of trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$7,854,000 (2019: HK$7,702,000).

As at 31 March 2020, a gross amount of approximately HK$6,934,000,
with allowance of approximately HK$6,934,000, included in trade
receivables were reclassified as assets held for sale (note 30).

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 120 days
to its customers, although an extension of the credit period is not
uncommon for customers who have a long term relationship with
the Group. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of this and the fact that the Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for trade receivables, presented based on the invoice
date, which approximates revenue recognition date at the end of
each reporting period.

23. BE5 RHEMBYRRIE &)

AT BRE®REHRRIEEOI WS R BB
MBEZAHEIN0E SRR (KR E
SIEYGRIARRRE) MARER AT -

2020 2019

= = i

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Within 90 days 0HA 7,161 -
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 693 287
7,854 287

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses on trade
receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to
past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

AEBZBEN2NBHEEB RN SR
BESREFRNERERE - EHRUIGUR
MBEMEEBRERBERRL2EEHA
HIBERE R LR R EF AR B AT AR D
FrmfEfbst - YRMEFANKERE - &
AR EREITENBRBEERB R R HRNH
= B HOERTER RS TE R B R AR EETT

A A BB S BE R R TAE
FHUESRBETRMEEER « EiL R
AEBTRAESE—SEHREREDIHR
SR BB o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. EZ2 R HAitEURZE (&)

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based on
the aging of customers collectively that are not individually

significant as follows:

As at 31 March 2020

—E-BF=A=+—H

AR BEREIEE R EARE P R A BRI TR
BHRWREN R EERENT

Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
In¥EF 5
FEHEER IREEARHE EBEEE
% HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THET
Within 3 months R=EAR 0% 7,161 -
3 months to 1 year —BAE—F 0% 693 =
7,854 =
As at 31 March 2019 —E-nF=A=1+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
piliL: R
TEERE R FREEARE ERR S
% HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Within 3 months R=@AR - - -
3 months to 1 year —BAE—F 0% 287 -
Over 1 year BA—F 100% 7415 7415
7,702 7415
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is set out

23. B3 RHMEWRE (F)
B SR B AR R BT

below:
2020 2019
—E-EH —E-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THExT FETT
1 April ®mA—A 7,415 6,124
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FARERERREIERE
during the year - 1,684
Amount reclassified as held for sale EoEAFELENERE (6,934) -
Exchange alignment VE 5, B (481) (393)
At 31 March W=A=+—H - 7415
Note: MI5E -
0 Included in the amount of other receivables as at 31 March 2020, approximately 0) —EoFF-A=+—H - fFAHEMERFRER

HK$22,000 (2019: HK$23,000) represented the amount due from Mr. Wang
Xiaogi, the executive director of the Company. The amount is unsecured,
interest-free and repayment on demand.

(i) As at 31 March 2020, a carrying amount of approximately HK$4,581,000, net of
allowance of approximately HK$3,278,000, included in other receivables were
reclassified as assets held for sale (note 30).

(i) The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL. The Group recognised 12-month ECL for other
receivables based on the internal credit rating of receivables as follows:

(if)

(iii)

©EA 2200078 7T (=T — NLEF ¢ 23,0008 7T )
ERAARMITES TER T ANKE - BN
BREIER B RAKEREE-

AN—E-_FFZA=+—H8 st AHMEKRZRE
7 AR TE (B 474,581,000 7 7T (FNBR 7 4V 3,278,000 75
) BEEFTHEAFIELEEE (M5E30)

AEEZRBAER 2EARBEREBROSETE
Hofth TR IR A SRR o AN EIR FEUCTIR Y
MRS B AT AL it FEMRIRRERR 1218 B IR (=
BERMT

Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
FEAEEER FREIAE(E BEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZB-ZF=A=+—H
Performing B4 0% 874 -
874 =
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
TREAE R = IRME4EE st
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=ZA=+—H
Performing %) 0% 1,938 -
Doubtful ] &t 100% 4,206 4,206
6,144 4,206
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 #EZ=_T_TF=A=+—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Note:

(iii) (Continued)

The movement in the loss allowance for other receivables is set out below:

23. EFREMEWE

RIE (48)
MI5E -

(iii) (%)

Heib A SRR B R RN EBINT

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group's future performance. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating
cycle.

There was no impairment loss recognised charge to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).
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2020 2019
—EEF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
At 1 April REA—H 4,206 3,559

Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss
during the year FRERPERIEEEE = 831
Amount write-off as uncollectible W AT AR ERIBR &5 (700) -
Amount reclassified as held for sale BB ARKIEHENSEE (3,278) -
Exchange alignment B 5 R (228) (184)
At 31 March R=A=+—H - 4,206

24. CONTRACT ASSETS 24. EHNEE
2020 2019
—B-BF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHR Fi
Unbilled revenue of system REREEHNARFRKE

development contract 1,193 -

BEHERETERAEEHC TKERFAREN
THE WK ENENER - RESEBER
BURRARNEB M ARRERIR - EHBRENK S
BRI - BNEERBRERIGUS -

AEBBZEANEEYBARDEE R
AAEASEBARESCEBBPNIEEREE
R -

BE_Z_ZTHF_A=+—HALFE AE
EEEW/JEZTEFEET FTARAREREMEEIK
BRP(ZE-NF8)-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIRVALUETHROUGH 25. B A FEt A BENEREE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
—ECERHE —T-hNF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAT
Wealth management products by the A B SR TIE B
bank in the PRC 29,035 49,204
As at 31 March 2020, a carrying amount of approximately RZZEZTF=RA=1+—08 " sTARQTFE
HK$6,559,000 included in financial assets at fair value through profit FPABRN SR EENREEL 6,559,000
or loss was reclassified as assets held for sale (note 30). TEEEHHSBARIELEEE (H5E30)
The wealth management products by the bank in the PRC with REIRIRITLAMRRE @ B T AR MEMIBM E S
underlying financial instrument mainly consist of the short-term FEREFEMNENES  BEEMERER
bonds, money market investment fund and bank deposits of the & RRITIFR -
PRC.
The wealth management products carried floating interest rate at NRZE_FTF=A=1+—0 BYERKRY
2.40%-3.88% per annum as at 31 March 2020 (2019: 2.40%-4.15%). BFERE240FEE388E(ZF—NF : 240

Ez415E)5H8

26. RESTRICTED CASH AND BANK BALANCESAND 26. ZRHFIBEURBITERRIRE
CASH

Restricted cash ZRERE

As at 31 March 2019, bank balance of HK$735,000 (equivalent to R-ZZE—hAhF=A=1+—8" B817&%
RMB629,000) (2020: nil) was restricted due to the litigation and 735,000 7T (FHER AR 6290007T) (ZF
earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rate —TE - R)AFRDMIERE - EEGAR
which range from 0.2% to 1.2% per annum (2020: nil). TEFFEFNRETE » FFRENT2EE12

B(ZZE-ZF:F)-

Bank balances and cash RITEBRES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank balances and cash of RZZBZTF=A=+—08 AEEHBIN
approximately HK$8,915,000 (2019: HK$24,225,000) which were AR ERRITAARR RIS 489150004%
denominated in Renminbi. The remittance of these funds out of the TL(ZF— L8 1 24,225000 70 ) © [ &
PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the BONEFRBE TR EBAEITHINEEH -

PRC government.

As at 31 March 2020, a carrying amount of approximately N_ZEZZF=A=1T—8 " ;T ARTHE
HK$230,000 included in bank balances and cash was reclassified as NM3E & MR (E 42300008 TEEEH D
assets held for sale (note 30). HARBEREEE (MFE30) °

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank IRITHEBRBERITERFDMNEASE - F
deposit rates which range from 0.3% to 0.35% per annum (2019: 0.2% FENFOIEZ0ISE(ZE—NF : FF|
to 1.2% per annum). KO2BZEI12[E) -
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. EZ R EMEMARIER
2020 2019
—2-®E  —ThF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx THETT
Trade payables B 5 RN IR 7,167 58,979
Accruals fest &M 1,716 1,470
Other tax payable HAbERTIE 75 903
Other payables (note i) H At A< 3B (M) 5,698 26,190
14,656 87,542
As at 31 March 2020, a carrying amount of approximately ‘Q_? —EFE=A=+—8 i AEBSEN
HK$54,355,000 included in trade payables was reclassified as SRIE MY BE T {E 495435500008 T E EEH H
liabilities associated with assets held for sale (note 30). MAREEHELSEEENARE (K30) -
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based LT ARSREERIZEZNEHIZINE Sk
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: NRTER R DT ¢
2020 2019
—2-2F  —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 30 days MR30EA 5,974 -
31 to 90 days 31290H 1,193 -
Over 91 days Himo1 3 - 58,979
7,167 58,979
The average credit period granted by its suppliers ranging from HENER T EEENT30E 1208
30 to 120 days. The Group has financial risk management in place to RNEBDEHMUERBEIR  NERAAE
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe. NHRIERNZEEREANES -
Note: fsT -
(i) As at 31 March 2020, a carrying amount of approximately HK$22,349,000 (i) RZE-ZTF=F=+—0 st AHMENFTE
included in other payables was reclassified as liabilities associated with assets B BR EI{E 49 22,349,000 78 7T B I B 0 48 A B E
held for sale (note 30). HEEEFHMAMNARE (ME30) -
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28.

29,

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

8. BWAME

2020 2019

bt 353 —E-hEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Revenue from system development contract 3k B R4 B A QU 251 -

Contract liabilities represents advances received for the revenue
from system development contract. The performance obligation
would be satisfied upon the time of the completion of system
development.

No revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2020 that
was included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April 2019 (2019: nil).

BHABEELRRAES QUSRI R
K BROEIHNRRRETRETZK -

BE_T_ZF=-A=+-HUIFEIER
REFAAZZE-NFHA-BHNEHNEEN
Weas (ZF—NF &) -

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE RAFEFABENERAR
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2020 2019
—EIEH —E-NEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT FET
Financial liabilities arising in relation to MREHENRBEEN
the provision of the Profit Guarantee TRIEE - 1,792

The financial liabilities represented the provision of the Profit
Guarantee contained in an investment agreement between
Shenzhen Quantum and the non-controlling shareholder of CITIC
Cyber Security (see note 38).

Financial liabilities arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum Group is unsecured, interest-free and not repayable within
twelve months. Balance of financial liabilities arising in relation to the
acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum Group was primarily earn-up of
approximately HK$1,792,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019
(HKS$11,762,000 as at acquisition date on 4 July 2018). Earn-up will be
realised if the CITIC Cyber Security achieve certain profit targets
during the designated period of time. Details of earn-up
measurement are set out in note 38.

MINERETE cREGBRIERIET
AR H IR AR AR SR A IR B B (R
FIEE38) °

RUERNETEEMEENSHEEAE
iR 2B RBART-_EARAEE - HE
ZE-NEFEZA=T—HLEFE - RWER
NEFEBEEEANCRBELEBEIERET
#91,7920008 L (RWEHB =S —N\Ft
APUA &11,762,0007870) © i 58215
TEMREEANERS TN BE - BIgRm
BEEN - B EFIEEIINMTES -
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29.

30.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 29. EAFEFTABEZENERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued) (4&)
During the year, the Group remeasured fair value of financial RER  KREBREMSI = RIRITHER
liabilities of profit guarantee in investment arrangement based on =B R FEBI T BT R = IR B Wi s R R
the market outlook and their prevailing business plans and FHERBEATYE Bt BHERIEAFE
projections. Accordingly, change in fair value of financial liabilities at Bt \BEmmNemAENATEESHNA
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$ 1,792,000 (2019: 1,792,000 7T ( =& — AL 4 : 9,835,000 7% 7T )
HK$9,835,000) (restated) was recognised. The fair value of financial (BET) - BB ENRFETIRERRA
liabilities assessment is calculated based on discounted cash flows of AL S RENZET RYIEFH RS
future payment with the estimated future profit of these acquired A IE AR IOHF MEE S - WEHTE
businesses in Shenzhen Quantum and subject to celling level up to ERNETFEENEEFE -
net assets of Shenzhen Quantum Group.
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR 30. 7 EARELHENHEAR
SALE
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the directors of the Company BE_Z-_ZF=ZA=+—"HItFE AR
resolved to dispose of the entire equity interest in China Mobile AESEDHERAHETEINREERN S
Payment Technology Group. Negotiations with several interested Mt - HigE L 2B BRMAETER -
parties have subsequently taken place. The assets and liabilities FEHZBERMEERBEBER T _EARE
attributable to the group, which is expected to be sold within twelve € BESBABELENHEHR TR
months, have been classified as a disposal group held for sale and SAEMBHRARBLES (R TX) - HERT
are presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial BREFEBEHEERBREBEEKABHER
position (see below). The net proceeds of disposal are expected to H{EFEE - ALt - WEERREEE -
exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assets and liabilities
and accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised.
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the group classified as AEBDEABIELENEERBENEE
held for sale are as follows: R
2020
—EEF
HK$'000
FAET
Plant and equipment TR K 35 1 33
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A FEURIR 1,303
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BEATEFABEGNESREE 6,559
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB LIRS 230
Total assets classified as held for sale SEAFELHENREE 8,125
Trade and other payables (note i, ii and iii) B 5N EMENFIE
(B&E ~ i K iii) 76,704
Total liabilities classified as held for sale DEABEHENBERE 76,704
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZE=Z_-F

30.

31.

32.

B MR M T

FEA=+—HIEFE

DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020, approximately of
HK$194,000 (2019: HK$194,000) represented the amount due to Mr. Chan Foo

Wing, the ultimate beneficial owner of the Company. The amount is unsecured,
interest-free and repayment on demand.

(i) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020, approximately of
HK$10,932,000 (2019: HK$11,693,000) represented the amount due to an
independent third party, 3k 5 3 & 18 3% A 4% B B R 2 & The amount is
unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand.

(ifi) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020, approximately of
HK$2,353,000 (2019: HK$2,295,000) represented the amount payable to several
former employees of Beijing Huagin due to the litigations in respect of the
termination of employment.

DEFERRED TAXATION

No deferred income tax have been recognised in the consolidated
financial statements as the Group did not have material temporary
difference arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
there carrying amounts as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019

As at 31 March 2020, no deferred tax asset has been recognised on
the tax losses of approximately HK$33,608,000 (2019: HK$25,582,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has tax losses of approximately
HKS$77,674,000 (2019: HKS51,686,000) that will be expired within next
five years. The remaining tax losses of approximately HK$87,991,000
(2019: HK$78,724,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.

31.

SEBBEHENHEAR (E)

GER

0) RZZEZTF=A=+— Bt \EtREMKER
S EEXY 194,000 7T (ZF—NEF 1 194,000 7T) #5
ERARARGRRE=EB ARS R ERFIE -
ZRIBREIER  RERBEREREEE -

(ii) RZBZEF=A=+—Hit AEMEMNKIED
©FE£910932,0008 7T (ZF — NG : 11,693,000
rc)%aﬁ’éﬁﬁj% FibRm B EEAKRRE

NAIMFIE - ZRBREIER - 2B RARE
Sjiﬂ%%i%ﬁo

(i)  H-T-BE=F=1+—Ht ARMENFRIEAN

S HAKI 2,353,000 7T (ZZ— L ¢ 2,295,000 7T)
ERILRAMSRNFLEBEMNIEREGET
AR REMFIE -

EIER IR

HRAKER T _TF=-A=+—HK=
E-NFZA=+—HNEERBBENHE
HEmMeR s MY BEANTRZE - QI
BERGE SRR T EREREEMESH -

RZBE-_FF=A=+—8  AREXE
AR GHEFRR R BT IBEBEELD
33,608,000/ 7L ( ZF —J1L4F : 25,582,000/ 7T )
HRIELERIAEE °

R-BE-_ZTF=ZA=+—H  AEEHFHE
B B 4776740008 = T — N F:
51,686,000 70) S5 A F N EIH] - 2 TEUFL
T8 5 48 4987,991,000787L( — 2 — N F:
78,724,000 78 7T ) A 4 PR HA A5

SHARE CAPITAL 32. B
Number of Share
shares capital
R EHE [N
000 HK$'000
TR FET
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 each FigE @010
Authorised: JETE ¢
1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and RZZE—NFEWMA—AH -
31 March 2020 ZE-NF=A=FT—AK
—ZE-TF=A=+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRERE
1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and RZE—N\EFMA—H -
31 March 2020 —E-NF=ZHA=+—8HK
—E-FEFE=A=+—H 1,356,250 135,625
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided
for in the consolidated financial statements as follows:

33. HARAE
RIBEIR - HRRRA BB RRERIO K
REEMT :

2020 2019
—ECEH —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FH&T
Accrued interests on late settlement of EEEEFAERMOERTFE
litigation claims 6,253 2974

As of 1 April 2018, a subsidiary of the Company, Beijing Huagin was
involved in material litigation that a supplier of Beijing Huagin filed a
litigation with Shanghai Municipal Intermediate People’s Court No. 1
(the “Court”) against Beijing Huaqin for compensation on default in
payment due to the disagreement of the goods' quantity delivered.

On 31 May 2018, the Court ordered Beijing Huagin to repay the
alleged amount involved in the litigation in respect of the default
payment for the supply of goods. As at 31 March 2020, amount of
approximately RMB49,721,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$54,355,000) was recorded in liabilities associated with assets
classified held for sale (note 30) (2019: trade payables with the
penalty cost of approximately RMB50,286,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$58,800,000)). The relevant penalty cost of
approximately RMB2,417,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,827,000) was included in administrative expenses for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has not yet fully
settled the alleged amounts. As at 31 March 2020, the amount of
accrued of interests on delay settlement of the remaining alleged
amount was approximately RMB5,720,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,253,000) (2019: RMB2,543,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,974,000)).

As at 31 March 2019, bank balance of approximately RMB629,000

(equivalent to approximately HK$735,000) (2020: nil) was restricted
due to the litigations.
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RZZB-NFOA—R  KARENKELQA
IERER S NEAFR - ERFEHH— A M
FERR LB E —hRARER (DEF DR
FEd BRI REHREACRNEMHES
BMiERER— B EEE -

RZBE-N\FRA=+—H AR TSR
EHHEEEBEHEXEMPENERNFA
FraRiEBRE - RZEFEF=A
=+—H  ©AEARK497210007T (FHE R
#954,355,000 7T ) R FIBE ARSI A HE S E
ARFEHEEEMBNaE (30 (ZF
—NF:BEFEMNFEERIIRHOARE
50,286,000 7T (FHE 7 #7 58,800,000 7T ) ) ° 8
FEIRBRANARE 2417000 7T (FEREL
28270008 ) Bt ABE_ZE—NLF=A
=+ —HIEFEMTEAS -

HE_Z-ZF=-A=1+—HIEE K&
EHMABBEERERENE - R _EF =
B=Z+—8 BEEBLAEHTHNIERIEE
ERRFTH B 5L A AR S,7200007T (48
ER#6,253000787L) (ZE—NF : AR
2,543,000 70 (ABE 7 492,974,000 7T) ) °

MNZZE-—NAF=ZA=+—08 ' RITEBHOA
R 629,000 7T (FBE 7477350008 70) (=&
ZTF ) AFAMZREA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M R
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34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for its office premises. Leases for the year ended 31 March 2019 are
negotiated for terms of one to five years.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:

34, KREHERE
AEBEEAEBEA
(TS TR P A St L A D B A
e BE-T-NE=A=+—AILEE
MBS A—ERE

R-T-AFZA=+-0 AEERET
AT T E 2 KRBT E N RARR
BT ERI -

2019
—T-NF
HKS$'000
FAT
Within one year —FN 7,054
In the second to fifth years inclusive FIERF(BREEEMRT) 2,938
9,992
35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BEt LR S
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEABNEMH
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members FARRAIEERAMEEEREAENHE
of key management personnel during the year was as follows: N
2020 2019
—EC-BE —T-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHERT FAT
Short-term benefits PSEEEER] 1,650 1,765
Post-employment benefits RIRER 36 45
1,686 1,810
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36.

37.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped
at HKS$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in the
PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement plan
for all its employees at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its
employees. The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees. Under
the state-managed retirement plan, the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total cost charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$816,000 (2019: HK$1,052,000)
represents contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the respective accounting period.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

The Company's new share option scheme (the "New Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to written resolution of the Company passed on 1
August 2011 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 31 July 2021.
Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant
employee or consultant, advisor, agent, contractor, client or supplier
of the Company or any subsidiary who in the sole opinion of the
board of directors have contributed or are expected to contribute to
the Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
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36.

37.

EIKRERGE
AEBEBREEBBHIEARE S ENEH AR
EEEAREBRER L EESTE - 255
SMEERAEBNEENFABE  WHE
FHAANESTE - AEEIREBITERARN
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

37.

38.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company as at the date of passing of the relevant
ordinary resolution. The number of shares issued and to be issued in
respect of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the issue
share capital of the Company for the time being (the “Individual
Limit"). Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors or any of their respective associates, would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any one
year up to and including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of
the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up on the date of grant, upon
payment of HK$1.00. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of grant of the share option to the tenth anniversary of the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the board of directors
of the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
nominal value of the Company'’s share; (ii) the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date of grant; and (iii) the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the
scheme and during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 May 2018, a subsidiary of the Company, /&I T & 12 & &
FAMR /AR Shenzhen Anxin Certification System Co., Ltd.*
(“Shenzhen Anxin”), Shenzhen Quantum and the former shareholder
of Shenzhen Quantum entered into a loan agreement of
RMB3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,139,000).
Subsequently, Shenzhen Quantum failed to repay the loan upon
expiry. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the former shareholder of
Shenzhen Quantum transferred the entire equity interest in
Shenzhen Quantum to Shenzhen Anxin as a deemed repayment of
the loan and the consideration of the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum and its subsidiary. The acquisition process was completed
on 4 July 2018.

37.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

On 4 July 2018, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in the
Shenzhen Quantum and its subsidiary, CITIC Cyber Security,
(collectively referred to as “Shenzhen Quantum Group”) for a cash
consideration of RMB3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,139,000). This acquisition has been accounted for using the
acquisition method. The principal activities of Shenzhen Quantum
Group is engaged in the technical development and software
development of credible identity authentication services related
products in the PRC. Shenzhen Quantum was acquired so as to
continue the expansion of the Group’s system development services
business.

Consideration transferred

8. WHEHKI B =] (&)

R-ZZE—\FEANA  AEERBERYE
FERAEWBARFEEL(F5ERIE
TEB Z100%kE  BeREAARK
3,500,000 7T (FHE 7 494,139,000 7T ) » U BE
EHERWEEIAE - RYETEERNEE
¥BARPEEEEFNRERGEEE
MARIT RS REFRAE - WERYIETE
FFEBRANEEN RGHEIRISETR

FrERAE

HK$'000
FH&TT

Deemed cash consideration arisen from the waive of R EWRIEFRBEBREARD
the amount due from Shenzhen Quantum RIEESNRE 4,139

No acquisition-related costs have been recognised as an expense for
the year ended 31 March 2019 within the administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised as at the date of acquisition
are as follows:

BE_Z-NF=RA=1+—HILFE UE
WEEMRRR AR A Ba LRt 2 E RS R
FRITRFAX NERBFEX °

REERHNERBEEEREBREEN
T

HKS$'000

FET

(restated)

(#eED)

Plant and equipment EEE: 2,730
Deposits and other receivables e R EAEYEIE 1,833
Financial assets at FVTPL BEATESFABENESREE 948
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEY 33,381
Other payables HoAth F& A 5RI8 (7,118)
Amount due to a group subsidiary ANETE L ENG B¢ (11,862)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss RAVEFAEENSRARE (11,627)
8,285

* For identification purpose only. * R

176 Quantum Thinking Limited / Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

38. WiBHEB R (&)

Gooduwill arising on acquisition HUEBEmEENEE
HKS$'000
THET
(restated)
(#&=51))
Consideration transferred P ERE 4,139
Plus: non-controlling interests (30% in CITIC Cyber Security) Al © FE¥ERIE RS (R ER L H) 30% #5 ) 8,285
Less: net assets acquired B BEEEFEE (8,285)
Goodwill arising on acquisition AU EmEENEHE 4,139

The non-controlling interests in the Shenzhen Quantum Group
recognised at the acquisition date was measured at their
proportionate share of net assets acquired and amounted to
approximately HK$8,285,000.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum Group

RS B BRI R Y & F 5 B A FEIE iR
mIEEMEEEFENLANGE DA
8,285,000 78 JT °

WERNEFRENRSRAFHE

HK$'000

FAT

Deemed cash consideration paid ENNREReNRE (4,139)
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired FriiE iR & RN e LB 33,381
29,242

Before the acquisition, Shenzhen Quantum has entered into an
investment agreement containing certain profit guarantee
arrangement with the non-controlling shareholder of CITIC Cyber
Security:

(1) Inthe event that the net profit attributable to the shareholders
of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring profit
and loss) for the year ending 31 December 2019, 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2021 is less than RMB800,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB85,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Net
Profit"), respectively, Shenzhen Quantum shall compensate
CITIC Technology in accordance with the following formula:

Compensationamount = (Guaranteed Net Profit for the
year — actual net profit for the
year) x 30% x 10

RIREERT - RIS TR ERZ IFERR
RIN—HEBEE THEMRELHNRE R

B

wWEE-—ZE—hFt+=-A=+—8"
—E-FEF+-_A=Z+—BERZZE
——F+-A=+—HULEFEFEH
22 PR R B AL F) (RS HBR FEAE B 1 3
K E18) o BIE R A R 800,000 7T
AR 40,000,000 7T & A R B 85,000,000
TT(MREBAF D) - FINEFERET
AR AP EEMELRE

BELE = (FERSLHN —FE
EIRALF]) x 30% x 10
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum Group (Continued)

@

In the event that the average net profit attributable to the
shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting non-
recurring profit and loss) for the three years ending 31
December 2021 is less than RMB40,000,000, the aggregate net
profit attributable to the shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security
(after deducting non-recurring profit and loss) for the three
years ending 31 December 2021 is less than RMB120,000,000,
there is material default, or serious illegal business has been
undertaken by CITIC Cyber Security, CITIC Technology may
request Shenzhen Quantum to acquire the equity interest in
CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology in accordance
with the terms and conditions of such investment agreement.

Details of the investment agreement have been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 12 October 2018.

Included in net loss attributable to the owners of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approximately
HK$12,285,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Shenzhen Quantum Group. Revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2019 included approximately
HKS$201,000 generated from Shenzhen Quantum Group.

Had the acquisitions of the Shenzhen Quantum Group been
completed on 1 April 2018, total revenue of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019 would have been increased by
approximately HK$201,000, and net loss attributable to the
owners of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 would
have increased by approximately HK$16,806,000. The
proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2018,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

Goodwill arose in the acquisitions of the Shenzhen Quantum
Group because the cost of the combination included a control
premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the
combination effectively included amounts in relation to the
benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market
development and the assembled workforce of the Shenzhen
Quantum Group. These benefits are not recognised separately
from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 39.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash change.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

RETHELENREHR

TRFALMASERELZDELNAEE
BRASMIIFRGEY - RELHELNE
BERREAEBIAKRESREBSNAEE LS

EREREXRTOERRERDESREN
BfE-

activities.
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
HK$’000
FET
(note 19)
(Mtz£19)
1 April 2019 E"_ —hEFMA—H -
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16 Lease RERES ﬁﬁi‘“#lﬁi/&ﬁ]
F 6 HERETHARE 9,112
Financing cash flows: RERSMNE
— Repayment —ER (2,590)
Non-cash changes: IER e
— New lease recognised (note 19) — BEERNFEE (MFE19) 9,287
— Lease derecognised due to termination — BRI L EREE (6,786)
— Increase in accruals — JERTE AN (1,374)
— Other income recognised (note10) — BHERREM WA (F5E10) (488)
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised (note 19) — EERNEEAERN S (MFF19) 366
— Exchange realignment — [EH AR (441)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE_TF=A=+—H 7,086
Trade and
other payable
B 5 RHEAM
FET IR
HK$'000
FH&TT
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FMHA—H 141,054
Operating cash flows: KERSRE
— Change in working capital —RBEeE (41,542)
Financing cash flows: BMERSRE -
— Repayment (note) — B (M) (2,922)
Non-cash changes: RS ED
— Written off other payable — SE E b AT FRIE (85)
— Exchange realignment — [EH AR (8,963)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NAF=A=+—H 87,542

Note:  The amount represented the repayment to a director.

MisE - ZEMEN—REEINTNER -

EFREARRAR / ZE_TFEHRE 179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

40. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 40. D T B AROR 3k B E #

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T FHET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment R 5 M 5% 47 66
Investments in subsidiaries WEBRRZIEE (@) = -
47 66
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and e BRFIEREAmE
other receivables W kg 685 711
Amounts due from subsidiaries PRI B~ R 5B (b) = 1,173
Cash and cash equivalents HehIREEEY 17,695 13,995
18,380 15,879
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HAbERTFIE R EFE A 700 350
Net current assets RBEEFE 17,680 15,529
Total assets less current liabilities #EERARBHEE 17,727 15,595
Equity s
Share capital R A 135,625 135,625
Reserves HiE (0 (117,898) (120,030)
Total equity A 17,727 15,595

Wang Xiaoqi Ho Yeung
TR ¥
Director Director

EF =
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

40. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

40. AT BARRKRNVER (&)

(Continued)
Notes: BT
(@) As at 31 March 2020, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost of @) RIBE-ZF=A=+—H RHEBRARINKE
approximately HK$26 (2019: HK$26), no impairment loss in respect of interests in TR AL 268 T (ZE—N4E : 26787T) §IIBR -
subsidiaries has been recognised in profit or loss for the years ended 31 March MR ERARNEZR S EAREREETENEE
2020 and 2019. CECTFR-CFE-NFZAZTHIEFER
BaEPRER -
(b) Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) FEYHT BB A RIFRIE
2020 2019
—EBE-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At 1 April REA—A 93,426 104,107
Less: accumulated impairment loss A REHEEE (93,426) (102,934)
At 31 March R=A=+—8H - 1173

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, impairment loss approximately HK$ 1,249,000
(2019: HK$10,585,000) and reversal of impairment loss approximately of
HK$10,757,000 (2019: nil) on amounts due from subsidiaries were recognised in
profit or loss.

(©) Movements in reserves

eI B R BFRBEER - 2B REEREE -

BHE-Z-ZF=-A=+—BLFE EBKKES
AR FRIB R EEIEH1,2490008 L (ZFE—hEF -
10,585,000 7% 7. ) K J3l {8 5 #8 # [2] 49 10,757,000 7 7T
(ZZ2—NF  ®)BRBRRER -

© #FBEEY
Share premium  Accumulated losses Total
MR A7 18 By st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—NFMNA—H 101,852 (204,488) (102,636)
Loss and other comprehensive FAEEREMEERY
expense for the year - (17,394) (17,394)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-ZZE—NFE=A=+—H
—ZE-NAEFEMA—H 101,852 (221,882) (120,030)
Profit and other comprehensive FEREH R E M 2 EW S
income for the year - 2,132 2132
At 31 March 2020 RZBE_TF=A=+—H 101,852 (219,750) (117,898)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. XREME R TS
COMPANY
Details of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 R-E-FEEFEF_E—NE=ZHA=+—HBZXK
are as follows: NRAIMBARKFHBEHINET
Issued and
fully paid
Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BETR2Y
AREE
HERAL/ fikRG Ry
WEARER I/ g%n%  EH EER FRARRERAEERKAEAIL TERH
Direct Indirect
HE 5
2020 2019 2020 2019
SESRF CT0F SRSEF DTN
China Integrated Telecommunications  The British Virgin Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Group Co. Limited Islands (‘BVI')
PERRRNERERAT AERIES B 15T 100% 100% - - RERKR
(RBELEE])
China 020 Business Group Co. Limited - BVI Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
PEO0HEEEERAA REAKES i3} E 100% 100% - - REER
Excellent Master Investments Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Financing and administrative
expense for the Group
Excellent Master Investments Limited &/ E3Gl 17T 100% 100% - - KAEEREBRIEAX
YBDS Multimedia Company Limited BVl Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Online network systems
development
ERSREERAR AERIES B 15T 100% 100% - - BIREZERE
Mobile Payment Technology Group ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Company Limited (note i
SANBEEERAR(WFI) &8 B BT 100% 100% - - RERKR
Yunbo Digital Synergy Company Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited
EREFARLA R i1 187 100% 100% - - REER
Pacific Honour Development Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HIERRERAR EE R 187 - - 100% 100% REBEK
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

41. ARATFMB QTS (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BETR2Y
HREE
AL/ R BE/
WEARER R/ E$8% B8l EER RAAEERAEERFARAIL TERH
Direct Indirect
HE GE
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBCBE TN ZBCBE ZTNF
Guangzhou YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (note) ~ PRC Contributed ~ RMB40,000,000 = - 100% 100%  Provision of system
Capital development services,
consultation services
and hardware-related
business
BMEEESHEERA M HEER AR - - 100% 100% REZFABRS B
(Firz) 40,000,000 REUAREAHEERS
Able Bloom Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKST - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BENRERAT ik B 1T - - 100% 100% REER
China Mobile Payment Technology BvI Ordinary Uss2 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Group Company Limited
MEXARBEEERAF ABRNES B WET - - 100% 100% REER
Hua Strong Network Science and PRC Contributed ~ US$8,000,000 - - 90% 90%  Investment holding and IT
Technology Company Limited* capital network consultation
(note i and i) service
EXBEMBAERAR (Wi ki) +& HEER  8000000FT - - 90% a0 RESRRERR
BEBERRS
Beijing Huagin World Technology PRC Contributed ~ RMB50,000,000 - - 45.9% 459%  Trading of residential
Company Limited capital gateway products
(‘Beijing Huaqin")* (note i
EREGROHHERAR il HEER AR - - 45.9% s BEREHEER
(Mezz8)) (05 500000007
* For identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. RXARIME R RNFE (&)

COMPANY (Continued)

Issued and
fully paid
Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BETR2E
HRER
AL/ R BE/
WEAR AR R/ E$8% B8l dEx RAAEERAEERFARAIL TERH
Direct Indirect
HE 553
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBCBE TN ZBCBE ZTNF

Shenzhen Yunbo Information System  PRC Contributed  RMBS5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Service Company Limited * (note i) Capital

MEBEIZARBERRT  PE HEER AR - - 100% 100% REER
(Firz) 5,0000007C

Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd * (note i) PRC Contributed ~ RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system

Capital development services and
consultation services

RTREEENRARRA M HEER AR - - 100% 100% RERGRERER

(Firz) 5000007 BRHRS

Shenzhen Anxin Certification System ~ PRC Contributed ~ RMB50,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
(o, Ltd* ("Shenzhen Anxin’) Capital
(note )

RTREREZRARRA M HEER AR - - 100% 100% REBE

(FRI=E ) (3t) 500000007

Shenzhen Quantum Technology PRC Contributed ~ RMB10,770,000 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
Information Co, Ltd.* (note i and iv) capital

RITEFREGA S BRAA e HEER  ARK - - 100% 100% REER
(FzEi Reiv) 10,770,000 7%

Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security PRC Contributed ~ RMB14,290,000 - - 70% 70%  Technical development and
Authentication Co, Ltd. capital software development
('CITIC Cyber Security’)*

(noteiand iv)

AT ERTREERDA e HEER  ARH - - 70% 0% BAREREHHE

(M@ ) (00 Riv) 14290000 7%

For identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. AR FE)ME R RS (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
Notes: BiRE -
0 The nature of all the legal entities established in PRC is limited liability company. 0} RPBER A EZEEENEEAERETA
e
(ii) The subsidiary was under the application for deregistration on 9 April 2020. (ii) ZHBARIN-_E_TFMNANBHBIHEERL -
(iif) Hua Strong holds 51% interest in Beijing Huaqin and hence the Company holds (iii) ERAFEILLREYS %D B ARRFFIL
a 45.9% effective interest in Beijing Huagin. The board of directors of Beijing FREHSNER RS - EREHEFTSHAR
Huagin is controlled by the Company. Thus, Beijing Huagin is the Company's TR - Bt SEREHAERQGHMREAT
subsidiary.
(iv) The subsidiary was acquired on 4 July 2018. Details are set out in note 38. (iv) ZHBARIR-ZE—N\FLAMNBERE - F#15
BAHIEE38 o
None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities outstanding B B A B A MR A B & R ok F N BT
at the end of both years or at any time during both years. BN TS 55
Details of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are AN ARERMS BE AR IELSEREZN
material to the Group: NG EL =

Proportion of ownership

Place of interest and voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation non-controlling interest non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERBEBANREERER ATREFEREEN
WEARER Bt SRLA B R FERER
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
b 23 —Z-hE ZBCRE —Z-NE ZBIBE _ZNf
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET Tz TER T
Beijing Huaqin PRC 54% 54% (78) (6314) (16,683) (17,763)
EREY i 54% 54% (78) (6314) (16,683) (17,763)
CITIC Cyber Security PRC 30% 30% (5,763) (5265) (2,976) 2819
PEREZ i 30% 30% (5.763) (5,265) (2,976) 2819
The summarised financial information in respect of each of the AN EEE E AR RS I B A T sk M
Group's subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that has material non- BARERNBEERENMT o TXHE
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial BERIE AR EBRNIIENATHEEE -

information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Beijing Huqain

41. ARATFMB QTS (&)

tRES

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2020 2019
it et 5 —T-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FAT
Current assets MENEE 31,425 34,205
Non-current assets EMEEE 33 68
Current liabilities mEaRE (62,295) (67,106)
Net liabilities BEFAE (30,837) (32,833)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR RAIHEA A IR (14,154) (15,070)
Non-controlling interests IEIE TR (16,683) (17,763)
For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLFE
2020 2019
—E-BF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Expenses G (360) (12,034)
Loss for the year FANEE (145) (11,671)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RREHEE AL EE (67) (5357)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests  3F12% A% 4 25 FE (L E5 18 (78) (6,314)
Loss for the year FANEE (145) (11,671)
Other comprehensive income attributable to ARaEA ANEGEMEERE
owners of the Company 983 668
Other comprehensive income attributable eI R PR E b 2 E W e
to the non-controlling interests 1,158 787
Other comprehensive income for the year FAHEME2E WS 2,141 1,455
Total comprehensive income/(expense) RARHEEANEEZE
attributable to owners of the Company Wezs (M) 4% 916 (4,689)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) JEE R R G 2 E s
attributable to the non-controlling interests () 4858 1,080 (5,527)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FREEmKE (X)) E5E
for the year 1,996 (10,216)
Net cash outflow from operating activities JESEEM IR S E R (866) (40,841)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEETHNE S RAERE 921 277
Net cash inflow/(outflow) WamA/ R F5E 55 (40,564)

The assets and liabilities of Beijing Hugain were attributable to,
which is expected to be sold within twelve months, have been
classified as a disposal group held for sale (see note 30).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_TF=A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. KA TM B A EREEE (E)

COMPANY (Continued)
CITIC Cyber Security

PERAR

As at 31 March

R=R=+—H
2020 2019
. —TNF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBxT FHEIT
Current assets MEVEE 10,130 26,033
Non-current assets ERMEEE 9,743 2,190
Current liabilities mEAE (26,338) (18,826)
Non-current liabilities ErREaE (3,456) -
Net (liabilities)/assets (B8R EEFHE (9,921) 9,397
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NANTBHEA NFE(EREZS (6,945) 6,578
Non-controlling interests FEPE R 2 (2,976) 2,819

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+t—-HLEE

2020 2019
—B-BF —T-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FH&TT
Revenue e 2,170 201
Expenses Fi sz (21,224) (17,722)
Loss for the year FAEE (19,210) (17,549)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KAREEAR AFELEER (13,447) (12,284)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests  JE2 I 1 25 E 15 15 18 (5,763) (5,265)
Loss for the year FAEE (19,210) (17,549)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to ~ ANA A #EA AEMGEM 2R
owners of the Company (76) 472)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to  FEIEA% S FE(E E (b 2 FI 52
the non-controlling interests (32) (201)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMEEFRY (108) (673)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to RARHEANEEEERSZ L
owners of the Company (13,523) (12,756)
Total comprehensive expense attributable IR R 2 A S B E
to the non-controlling interests (5,795) (5,/466)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEMA X A% (19,318) (18,222)
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEENIE SR F5E (7,929) (9,465)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KEEESNE SR F5E (3,660) -
Net cash outflow from financing activities BESEBNIR & IR RE (3,084) -
Net cash outflow We it F58 (14,673) (9,465)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

42,

43.

44,

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered into two
new arrangements in respect of buildings. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of approximately HK$9,287,000 were recognised at
the commencement of the leases.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, pursuant to the termination
of lease agreement entered into with an independent landlord, the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$6,690,000 and HK$6,786,000 were derecognised
respectively.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) has affected both
the provision of system development, consultancy and maintenance
services business and the sales of hardware business of the Group.
Given the ongoing nature of these circumstances, the related impact
on the consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial
conditions of the Group could not be reasonably estimated at this
stage and will be reflected in their interim financial information for
the six months ending 30 September 2020 and consolidated
financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2021.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm the
presentation of the current year for the purpose of better
representation of the Group's activities:

Repayment to a director of approximately HK$2,922,000 is adjusted
to the financing cash flow of the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 31 March 2019.

188 Quantum Thinking Limited / Annual Report 2020

42.

43.

44.

FEHFBRESRS
HE_Z_ZHE=-A=1+—HIEE &&
ESEFI MBI - FREEENA
BB E49,287,000/8 TN HEFRIGRER -

RBE_T_TF=_A=+—HILFE " &
BERIEEBT XTI INEE R - Rk

6,786,000/8 708 2 B AR | HHERR ©

WREHREE

AT RS (COVID-19) B R B EAREE
RERFEFAE  BAREERSAREERE
HER - ERZEBRNBERYE  ~&E
HEREESBAFTHEGALEEE -1
EREMVBRERNEETE  BEF
BERNHEE T -_TFHA=ZF+HIENE
B BB ER Bz S -—F= A
=+ —HLEFENGEEMBHRRARE

BT
ETLBRETOREHHE  USUNFE
SELER SnlC e SUEES R

BB EEL 292008 T AREHE -
TE-NE=ZA=1+—HIFESZRABELTE
ROBEBRESRE °
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